

4/3/2014

Page 1

STATE OF MICHIGAN

DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS

REGULAR MEETING

Page 1 - 55

Taken at 1301 Third Street

Detroit, Michigan

Commencing at 3:00 p.m.

Thursday, April 3, 2014

Before Rhonda M. Foster, CSR 3612

1 COMMISSIONERS:

2 JESSICA TAYLOR, Chairperson

3 DONNELL R. WHITE, Vice Chairperson

4 RICHARD SHELBY, Commissioner, District 1

5 WENDELL L. BYRD, Commissioner, District 2

6 REGINALD CRAWFORD, District 3

7 WILLIE E. BELL, Commissioner, District 4

8 WILLIE E. BURTON, Commissioner, District 5

9 LISA CARTER, Commissioner, District 6

10 RICARDO R. MOORE, Commissioner, District 7

11 GEORGE ANTHONY, Executive Secretary

12

13

14 DETROIT POLICE DEPARTMENT

15 COMMAND STAFF:

16 D.C. DARRYL BROWN

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1 Detroit, Michigan
2 Thursday, April 3, 2014
3 About 3:01 p.m.

4
5 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Good afternoon. We are
6 calling the meeting to order at 3:00 p.m., on Thursday,
7 April 3rd, 2014. My name is Commissioner Jessica
8 Taylor, Chairperson.

9 And at this time, I am going to ask the
10 Secretary to call the roll.

11 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Thank you, Madam Chair.
12 For the record, George Anthony, Secretary to
13 the Board.

14 Commissioner Donnell R. White?

15 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Present.

16 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Richard
17 Shelby?

18 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Present.

19 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Wendell L.
20 Byrd?

21 COMMISSIONER BYRD: Present.

22 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Reginald
23 Crawford?

24 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Present.

25 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Willie E.

1 Bell?

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Present.

3 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Willie E.

4 Burton?

5 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Present.

6 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Ricardo R.

7 Moore?

8 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Present.

9 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Lisa Carter?

10 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Present.

11 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Madam Chair, you have

12 your full Board.

13 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Thank you.

14 From the Chief's Office, we have D.C. Darryl

15 Brown today.

16 D.C. BROWN: Present. Thank you, ma'am.

17 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Mr. Secretary, will you

18 call the rest of the staff, please?

19 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Thank you, Madam Chair.

20 From our staff, we have our attorney to the

21 Board, Ms. Aliyah Sabree. Also, Ms. Pamela Davis-Drake

22 who is our Chief Investigator from the Office of the

23 Chief Investigator.

24 And accompanying our Chief Investigator are

25 two of our newest investigators, and if I can ask them

1 to stand so that the Board may see who they are.

2 Investigator Scott Lawson, and Investigator Denise
3 Shelton, welcome aboard.

4 INVESTIGATORS: Thank you.

5 SECRETARY ANTHONY: We also have Mr. Robert
6 Brown who is our Office Manager; Sergeant Alan Quinn,
7 who is recording our proceedings; and Ms. Rhonda Foster
8 from Hanson Court Reporting Service.

9 And that concludes the introduction, ma'am.

10 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Thank you.

11 At this time, I am going to ask Pastor Myatt
12 if you would come and lead us in a word of prayer,
13 please.

14 PASTOR MYATT: Thank you, Madam Chair.

15 The Board, Commissioners, let us pray.

16 Heavenly Father, again, we come before you
17 thanking you for your wisdom and for your guidance. We
18 thank you for order and structure. We thank you for
19 innovative thinking. We thank you, God, for moving our
20 city forward and giving us your blessing. Thank you
21 for releasing your angels watch over us.

22 In Jesus' name. Amen.

23 AUDIENCE: Amen.

24 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: A motion is in order to
25 approve the agenda for Thursday, April 3rd, 2014.

1 COMMISSIONER WHITE: So moved.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Second.

3 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: It has been moved and
4 seconded.

5 Any discussion?

6 All in favor?

7 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

8 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: All opposed?

9 Agenda stands approved.

10 I will ask for a motion to approve the
11 minutes for Thursday, March 27, 2014.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: So moved.

13 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Second.

14 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: It has been moved and
15 seconded.

16 Any discussion?

17 All in favor?

18 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

19 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: All opposed?

20 Agenda stands approved -- I mean, the minutes
21 stands approved. Sorry.

22 Okay. At this time, we are going to ask for
23 a report or a presentation from Homicide, the process
24 update.

25 CAPTAIN DECKER: Afternoon, Commissioners.

1 Captain Eric Decker, in charge of Homicide. I have a
2 slide show here for you.

3 A lot of good things going on in Homicide,
4 last several months. We have instituted what we refer
5 to as Case Trax. It is a case management system. It
6 allows especially myself and other supervisors to track
7 the work of the officers, case by case, a lot of
8 different information as far as, you can see from the
9 slides, our evidence, our progress notes, the victim
10 information.

11 It also has some data that comes up helping
12 us in our solvability. This system has been placed by
13 Commander Giaquinto, actually wrote by him. Excellent,
14 from my perspective and supervisors there, a very quick
15 reference for me. I get into the system, I can follow
16 the case, all the notes in there, I don't have to look
17 for the file. Same for my lieutenants, we can follow
18 it case by case; been helping us a lot.

19 As you may or may not know, our Homicide,
20 probably about six months ago was totally revamped.
21 Got rid of a lot of people. Came up to squad --
22 geographic squad assignments. Follows our district
23 assignments. We have six different squads, as you see
24 on the left there. Each squad goes to --
25 geographically central, being one and third, so forth,

1 so there's six separate squads. Gives us a team
2 approach.

3 Our investigators basically start -- or
4 respond to the beginning of the crime scene to the end.
5 It is not being passed off. It comes as a team,
6 everybody is involved in that team. And again,
7 they -- they take it from the very beginning, to the
8 very end. So we are not passing information, we are
9 not losing information. It has been very successful.

10 Along with our six different squads, we have
11 a Homicide Task Force; very newly developed. It is
12 funded through the HIDTA program, which is federal
13 money, cooperative between the Detroit Police, Michigan
14 State Police, and Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and
15 Firearms. It is actually a 21-member team: Ten from
16 DP, ten from MSP, and one ATF agent.

17 They are responsible for murders involving
18 not less than three victims, of which two or more are
19 fatal. A couple recent cases that we have had is the
20 barber shop shooting in Northeast District; a triple
21 murder on Bentler Street, number six, which, by the
22 way, have been closed by the task force.

23 Also involves murders involving
24 kilogram-level narcotics trafficking, multistate drug
25 trafficking. They handle all police shootings in the

1 city of Detroit, and also high profile incidents.

2 Another case recently was the fatal shooting
3 of the security guard at CVS. The task force was
4 enacted for that and followed that through to
5 apprehension and arrest.

6 Another very important thing going on in
7 Homicide: Every day, 9:00, we hold a team -- or
8 everybody briefing. Great for information sharing. We
9 talk about the cases, what the officers, investigators
10 have been doing. Amazing how we do have geographic
11 separation, but a case, as the officers start talking
12 about their case today, another team will see
13 commonalities between victims and suspects. Very vital
14 to our current closure rate is our information sharing.

15 And this is basically where we are at today,
16 part of everything coming together. Currently we have
17 45 homicides, city of Detroit. It is down from 68 last
18 year. It is overall percentage decrease of
19 33.8 percent. Phenomenal.

20 Probably when you go back -- our current
21 record management system goes back to 2001. It's very
22 easy to track. I looked through it, it is the lowest
23 we have had in homicides in the City since 2001. It is
24 actually significantly lower than anything else.

25 And then under that is our year-to-date

1 closures. This is the number that -- it is the big
2 number. It is a big number for me. If you look on the
3 right, UCR by the FBI, Uniform Crime Reporting.
4 Homicide -- or all crimes are closed by two different
5 things: Arrest, with charges; or exceptional
6 clearance.

7 Exceptional clearance, there are several
8 different rules, but a lot of times it is the
9 offender -- we have identified the offender, we are
10 unable to locate or arrest that offender. Most of the
11 time it is because they are dead, actually, is
12 exceptional clearance happens in murder/suicide.
13 Another example was a defendant was killed by another
14 suburban police department after he murdered one of our
15 citizens.

16 If you look at the numbers, though,
17 especially that second number, total cases closed,
18 93.3 percent. That is our honest clearance rate. That
19 comes from closed cases in 2014, as well as previous
20 year closures. Not just 2013, but cases from 2010,
21 2011, '12, '13, all the way back to the '80s cases. So
22 currently this year we have closed 25 of the 45 current
23 homicides, giving us a clearance of 55.6 percent. Also
24 closed -- this is closed with a warrant and arrest, 17
25 additional cases, bringing that number to 42, 93.3.

1 If you look under that, we also have five
2 not-in-custody warrants. From my perspective, my
3 detectives have done everything they can. They have
4 identified a person. They have submitted a warrant.
5 They have obtained a warrant. It is just a matter of
6 other entities tracking that individual down and
7 arresting them. Brings us to over a hundred percent.
8 There's a couple other ones at the Prosecutor's Office.
9 Now, that actual number -- this was as of yesterday.
10 In fact, one of those -- or two of the not-in-custody
11 warrants, the subject was arrested yesterday. Our
12 clearance rate currently stands at 97.8 percent.

13 Any questions?

14 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Commissioners?

15 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Through the Chair, do
16 you have a cold case squad?

17 CAPTAIN DECKER: Not specifically. At one
18 time we did. Funding-wise, there was some funding for
19 it. All cases are open. No cases are closed without
20 clearance or arrest. We don't have a specific unit
21 member squad investigating cold cases. All our
22 information that comes in on a cold case goes to that
23 geographic squad.

24 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Another question,
25 through the Chair, what about critical shootings? Are

1 you guys handling critical shootings or does the
2 precinct IOS handle those?

3 CAPTAIN DECKER: Precinct IOS.

4 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: If that person becomes
5 deceased, do they transfer the case over to you?

6 CAPTAIN DECKER: That is correct.

7 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Are there any other
8 questions?

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair, Captain, the
10 definition of homicide in the past has been a
11 discrepancy with the Prosecutor Office and DPD.

12 Could you give us a definition at this
13 particular time in reference to your definition of a
14 homicide?

15 CAPTAIN DECKER: Well, homicide itself by
16 definition is the taking of another's life. We track
17 criminal homicides.

18 Of this number, justified homicides,
19 homicides that have been ruled by the Prosecutor to be
20 justified in nature, are taken out of that. Other
21 deaths as far as suicides are taken out of that
22 equation. The 45 is just criminal homicides.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: My other question,
24 reference to, how do you respond to the victim's family
25 of a homicide? We have had two or three cases where

1 out-of-town mothers have come before this body here
2 expressing their anxiety of the sensitivity of the
3 homicide investigator, in terms of rapport, contact,
4 etcetera. They were dissatisfied, there was no
5 communication.

6 CAPTAIN DECKER: Absolutely very important.
7 We work with the victims' advocates. Very crucial.

8 I just went to a luncheon speech with the
9 Kresge Institute. Excellent people for us, dealing
10 with victims and family.

11 You know, it is a touchy place. When I first
12 got there -- I have only been at Homicide a little over
13 three months, and I had some of the same complaints
14 that have come to the Board where -- came down from the
15 Chief's Office or something to that effect where I
16 would personally call a victim's family. And I think
17 in -- and that was one of the complaints, that nobody
18 has talked to them. They don't know a case update.

19 So I asked at our briefing, 9:00 in the
20 morning, I said, hey, can you guys just call them?
21 Make a six-month call, make a three-month call, put it
22 on your calendar, call them. And I have all sorts of
23 investigators saying, oh, don't start that. There's --
24 certainly you can contact citizens that their family
25 members -- there's certain people that they want to

1 know. They would like to hear from us every day, even
2 if it is absolutely nothing. The majority don't. The
3 majority -- it just brings up bad memories to have that
4 phone call to say, nothing is going on, we are at the
5 same place. It brings up that emotion that they don't
6 want to go to. So it is a case-by-case. I think you
7 understand from the detectives, I think they can tell
8 right away the person, the families that want that
9 continual contact. We try to do that for them. Again,
10 we reach out to our victim advocates; very helpful for
11 us.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: My final question would
13 be in the area of homicide, as we relate to homicide,
14 as far as domestic violence, narcotics, or a dispute or
15 gang, what is your finding in terms of homicides
16 stemming from one of those areas, or some more than
17 others?

18 CAPTAIN DECKER: Well, unfortunately,
19 narcotics has been a big driver of homicides in the
20 past. Domestic violence is currently, it is very high
21 in the City. And we have had some domestic-related
22 homicides. Narcotics is probably still the biggest.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you, sir.

24 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay.

25 COMMISSIONER MOORE: One quick question.

1 Are there any plans in place to reduce
2 homicides before they even begin?

3 CAPTAIN DECKER: Absolutely, sir.
4 Unfortunately, my unit is the reactive unit. I think
5 right there actually has some beneficial -- some
6 benefits to this City, especially as that number gets
7 out, we are solving homicides. We are closing
8 homicides. And I think that can be very -- it is a
9 great tool, people, hey, I am going to get caught.

10 The other half in that, it's not really from
11 my house, is when you look at that number, 33.8 percent
12 overall reduction, that goes for most of the violent
13 crime in the city of Detroit right now. That's coming
14 from the proactive units out there, units like our
15 tactical response unit, special ops, and precincts. It
16 is actually removal of illegal weapons from the street,
17 my biggest opinion, is really putting our crime down.
18 That and going after known offenders.

19 So from my house, we are reactive. It
20 happens before we go out there. I think part of that
21 closure rate sends a message out there, but the other
22 half of that comes from the proactive units in the
23 department.

24 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Any other questions?

25 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, ma'am. A

1 question through the Chair.

2 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay.

3 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Commissioner
4 Crawford.

5 Yes, sir, Captain. In terms of what
6 Commissioner Bell was talking about, I think it was
7 some insensitive -- or the insensitivity that was
8 expressed, and that was -- it was the missing persons,
9 that's the unit that it was, prior to you getting --
10 the Homicide being even involved, and that was the
11 Missing Persons unit. So it wasn't your unit, I recall
12 that.

13 CAPTAIN DECKER: I am actually aware of both
14 of those cases.

15 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, sir.

16 CAPTAIN DECKER: And we are actually looking
17 at both of those cases. You know, that's a hard line
18 to go. Almost from a homicide, until we actually have
19 a body, it is not a homicide, but because of the
20 factors behind that, behind especially those two
21 incidents --

22 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, sir.

23 CAPTAIN DECKER: -- we have looked at them.
24 We are currently investigating them. I can't say they
25 are in our numbers. They are -- it is not a homicide

1 investigation until a body is found, but we are
2 certainly going in that direction, and currently both
3 those cases you are referring to are being actively
4 worked.

5 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, sir. And one
6 other question, are your tips coming in from the
7 community now more so than they used to in the past?

8 CAPTAIN DECKER: You know, I can't base it on
9 prior experience. But from my experience in the last
10 three months, have been incredible. I mean, CVS came
11 from a tip, I truly believe within -- it might have
12 been the next day, it might have been a couple days
13 later. My crew would have solved that without the
14 information, they were on that right track, but just
15 incredible information coming from the citizens. And
16 on a lot of cases, we are getting a lot of good
17 information coming through, especially through Crime
18 Stoppers.

19 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Okay. Well, I am
20 glad to hear that, because as some of us have said in
21 the community, is "Don't snitch, just tell." "Don't
22 just snitch, just tell."

23 CAPTAIN DECKER: I couldn't agree more, but
24 absolutely, it is vital. We can't do it ourselves.
25 Those cases -- crime doesn't happen in a bubble. For

1 the most part, somebody knows something. And the more
2 we have the community coming forward, the higher that's
3 going to continue to be.

4 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes. Thank you.

5 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Commissioner White?

6 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Madam Chair.

7 Thank you, Captain Decker. Just a question.

8 Go back to the Case Trax. Did I hear you
9 correctly, if I am a detective, I am following up with
10 a family, would I enter my comments into Case Trax?
11 Whether I called or did not call? Or could a second
12 individual, if I am no longer over that case, could
13 another individual ultimately come and see that this
14 particular family had called on a certain date and had
15 received a call or not received a call?

16 CAPTAIN DECKER: Absolutely. And for me as a
17 manager, it happens all the time, when I go back
18 through those, and I might have a complaint, I have
19 never heard anything, and I go back through those Case
20 Trax, well, didn't you get a call on this date? And a
21 call on this date? So absolutely, those are part of
22 that Case Trax. And it is an excellent tracking tool
23 for myself as a manager.

24 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Thank you.

25 And last question, Madam Chair.

1 With that being said, are there any triggers,
2 much like the MAS system, where you know after the
3 third instance, there needs to be a consultation with
4 that officer, sergeant, or supervisor, whoever it is?
5 Is there some trigger that happens at a certain point,
6 if a date lapses or if an individual has not been
7 contacted, that it shows up on your desktop?

8 CAPTAIN DECKER: Not at this time. Not any
9 automatic triggers.

10 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Is there a review
11 interval that you know that you are sitting with
12 individual detectives where you are looking at the --
13 does it generate a report or --

14 CAPTAIN DECKER: Yes, it can. The system
15 is -- hm, not the one I am looking for. Yes. Up in
16 this report menu, I can pull, and we often do it, I can
17 pull everything year-to-date, and we go over the cases,
18 you know, almost on a monthly basis that we look at all
19 our cases from year-to-date, and we go over them, you
20 know, what's open, what's closed, where we are at on
21 the cases.

22 COMMISSIONER WHITE: And that's on a monthly
23 basis?

24 CAPTAIN DECKER: That's correct.

25 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Thank you, Madam Chair.

1 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Any more questions?

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair, if I may ask
3 one more question.

4 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Yes.

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: In reference to training
6 of homicide investigators, at one time articles in the
7 paper talk about there was a massive exit of personnel
8 from homicide experience. And I guess my twofold
9 question is that the training process for homicide
10 investigators, and have you reached out to any
11 experienced people who have perhaps left the
12 Department, have extensive background in homicide
13 investigation? Would that be a fair question to pose?

14 CAPTAIN DECKER: I certainly haven't. I
15 have -- in fact, the Chief has talked about sending
16 myself, some of our others, out to other agencies
17 nationwide just to see what they are doing. You know,
18 our training process, we still have some phenomenal
19 talent that's been there, you know, I think it is
20 always a progression; that we had those senior
21 investigators, and as we bring new investigators in,
22 they get that experience. I personally haven't reached
23 out to anybody local with experience. But never a bad
24 idea.

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: I find that Homicide is a

1 unique field in terms of people skills. You have got
2 to know the community. You have got to know the
3 people, you have got to have a feel in terms of
4 interrogation or just interaction from people to
5 interact.

6 When we look at the consent decree in terms
7 of how we got into homicide, picking up June Bug
8 because June Bug didn't know Pete, you know, I just
9 want to make sure that we are more sensitive to what's
10 going on in the community. If officers are not part of
11 the Detroit scene, getting back to your concern, that
12 they don't really know the interaction, and training
13 won't do that, but somewhere along the line you have to
14 have that feel in terms of interacting with people to
15 come forward, feel comfortable with you in terms of
16 interaction. I just want to share that with you from
17 my personal experience, working the street, never
18 worked Homicide, but always appreciate those guys in
19 terms when they'd show up, they had those unique skills
20 to interact.

21 CAPTAIN DECKER: I think that's absolutely
22 true, sir.

23 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Madam Chair?

24 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Yes.

25 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: I have worked -- I

1 congratulate you and your unit. That 90 percent
2 closure rate you have is way above the national
3 average. So I thank you for your assistance and your
4 efforts of your team.

5 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: And also, too, you
6 said something about going out to other cities. It
7 seems like they may want to come here.

8 CAPTAIN DECKER: I sure hope so.

9 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Then they want to
10 come here with 93 percent.

11 CAPTAIN DECKER: I had a personal goal, too,
12 when the Chief called me and said, hey, I have got a
13 spot for you. Here you go. Never been a homicide
14 investigator in my career. My career was mainly
15 patrol. But I went there. And Chief said, I would
16 like 70 percent closure rate. And I mean I didn't know
17 enough to look back at the years and say, we are at 50,
18 that could be a huge jump. I mean, I had personal
19 goals. When you look at that year-to-date to see that
20 year-to-date 70, and not have to worry about the
21 previous year closures, it's very important, previous
22 year closures, because I think it shows that homicide
23 is never closed. They continue to work those cases.
24 They are phenomenal. I mean, almost every day, I
25 probably have six that aren't even in that number this

1 week, previous year cases that they are submitting
2 sitting at the Prosecutor's for a signature. But yeah,
3 I have personal goals, too. That 70 percent
4 year-to-date is mine. Everything else is bonus.

5 COMMISSIONER MOORE: What was it about your
6 skill set that you believe Chief chose you to come over
7 to Homicide?

8 D.C. BROWN: If I may.

9 CAPTAIN DECKER: Thank you.

10 D.C. BROWN: Through the Chair.

11 He is a hard charger. He is a leader. The
12 Chief realized that his leadership is setting the tone
13 from the top. As it relates to modeling behavior, when
14 he was a lieutenant, he probably was either the first
15 or the second best person on the platoon. He expected
16 for them to have, you know, substantial statistics.
17 And he has substantial statistics himself. It wasn't
18 uncommon for Captain Decker here to arrest individuals
19 with guns just as well as the individuals that he
20 expected to perform those tasks. So it is a
21 leadership, it is a tone, that is set from the top.

22 CAPTAIN DECKER: Thank you, sir.

23 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Any more questions for
24 Captain Decker?

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: After hearing that, no.

1 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Thank you, sir.

2 CAPTAIN DECKER: Thank you.

3 (Applause).

4 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay. Standing
5 committee reports.

6 Mr. Secretary, we do have two disciplinary
7 hearings. Is it two or one.

8 SECRETARY ANTHONY: There is one disciplinary
9 hearing, Madam Chair. And that's with regards
10 to -- well, it is not a disciplinary hearing. It is a
11 rejected applicant.

12 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Rejected, sorry.

13 SECRETARY ANTHONY: That's with regards to
14 Mr. Bradley Turner.

15 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay. All right.

16 Are there any committee reports?

17 New business? Any new business come before
18 the meeting?

19 Old business?

20 COMMISSIONER BYRD: I have a resolution to
21 read into the record; get the Commissioners' approval.

22 Board of Police Commissioners Resolution
23 Honoring Mr. Eugene Slappy on His 80th Birthday.

24 Whereas, Mr. Eugene Slappy was born on
25 April 9, 1934, in Andersville, Georgia, and was the

1 fourth of 11 children. At the age of 14, his family
2 moved to Hamtramck, Michigan, where he received his
3 high school education. Mr. Slappy is a proud and
4 longtime resident of the City of Detroit, and has lived
5 in the city for over 50 years; and

6 Whereas, Mr. Slappy has been married to his
7 loving and devoted wife Mary for 58 years, and together
8 the couple raised five children; and

9 Whereas, Mr. Slappy served this country in
10 the United States Army during the Koran War in the
11 1950s and was honorably discharged from the service.
12 He later went on to work for General Motors and retired
13 from GM after 32 years of dedicated service; and

14 Whereas, Mr. Slappy has worked tireless to
15 safeguard his community and improve the overall quality
16 of life for everyone who lives, works, and plays within
17 the community. Mr. Slappy served as President of the
18 Farwell Recreation Advisory Council for 23 years and
19 during his tenure as president, the Farwell Recreation
20 Center was built and opened to the public. He is also
21 a member of the Mound, Outer Drive, Ryan and Seven Mile
22 Radio Patrol and has served as president of the Hasse
23 Street Block Club. In addition, Mr. Slappy served as a
24 precinct delegate and was a candidate for the Detroit
25 City Council, 3rd District; and

1 Whereas, Mr. Slappy is a man of great faith
2 who is a church deacon, has served the New Saint Luke
3 Missionary Baptist Church on the City's eastside for
4 over 40 years.

5 Now Therefore Be It Resolved That the Detroit
6 Board of Police Commissioners, speaking on behalf of
7 the citizens of the City of Detroit and the Detroit
8 Police Department, acknowledge Mr. Eugene Slappy on his
9 80 birthday for his unwavering commitment to building a
10 strong community.

11 We wish you a very happy birthday,
12 Mr. Eugene Slappy and thank you for your gift of
13 service.

14 Detroit Board of Police Commissioners.

15 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay. A motion is in
16 order to adopt the resolution honoring Mr. Eugene
17 Slappy on his 80th birthday.

18 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Madam Chair, move for
19 adoption of the resolution on Eugene Slappy.

20 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: It has been moved.
21 Is there a second?

22 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Second.

23 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: It has been moved and
24 seconded that the Board adopt a resolution honoring
25 Eugene Slappy's 80th birthday.

1 Are there any discussion?

2 All in favor?

3 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

4 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: All opposed?

5 We will adopt -- the Commissioner will adopt
6 the resolution honoring Mr. Eugene Slappy's 80th
7 birthday.

8 All right. Now, our next meeting is
9 Thursday, April 10, 2014, 6:30 p.m., at the 11th
10 precinct, being held at the St. John's Conner Creek,
11 4777 East Outer Drive. And again, at St. John Conner
12 Creek, 4777 East Outer Drive, next Thursday,
13 April 10th, community meeting.

14 Next, we will have the oral communications
15 from the audience.

16 As you come forward, please state your name
17 and make -- limit your comments to two minutes, please.

18 Yes, ma'am. Come forward.

19 MS. BOONE: Hi. My name is Angela Boone, and
20 I came today because I have a report in with the police
21 because I was harassed, threatened and intimidated by a
22 police officer on November 20, 2013. And since that
23 time, my case just actually got closed on April 1st,
24 when I talked to everybody, but -- Chief Investigator.
25 It has been a long -- I know I only have two minutes,

1 but I had to actually go down there to, first of all,
2 to make the complaint, but I am going to tell you real
3 quick how it started.

4 I was at an office building at 1936 Junction.
5 And I was in there working. And a police officer --
6 well, I didn't know at the time it was a police
7 officer. He came to the door and he was banging on the
8 door like he was just crazy, and I went to the front
9 door and I said, well, who is it? He says, I am a
10 police officer. But he was in a plain car, so anybody
11 can say they are a police officer. I am not opening
12 the door. And so he said, you need to open the door.
13 He said, this man out here, and he showed me a piece of
14 paper at the window, he said, he own this building.

15 So the building that I was in actually went
16 through a Wayne County sale. Okay. The building --
17 yeah, they been doing that for me for months. The
18 building that I was in went to a Wayne County sale, and
19 the police officer, in other words, wasn't supposed to
20 be at the building. He claimed that someone flashed
21 him down on the street. He came to the building,
22 banging on the door, threatening me. He ran my license
23 plate. He didn't even know that was my car but it was
24 parked outside the building. So he used his authority
25 to do things that he had no business doing. He ran my

1 license plate, and that's why he got caught, because he
2 ran it. Because at the time, I had a warrant out for
3 my arrest, but it was for a ticket. Okay. And so I
4 knew it was for a ticket.

5 So he said, you need to open the door and you
6 need to cooperate with me now. He said, I am calling
7 for backup. And only because I called 911, because I
8 told him I wasn't opening the door because I didn't
9 know him.

10 And I just can't understand the findings that
11 they had. And I have a whole documented list, I have
12 letters that came from the Chief, Board of -- the
13 Chief.

14 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Chief Investigator.

15 MS. BOONE: It was written on February 7th.
16 I just got it yesterday in the mail. So it was a lot
17 of things that was happening, and the Chief
18 Investigator, you know, people got mad at me because I
19 had to call Internal Affairs because nobody was giving
20 me answers. And so I am here today because they are
21 trying to tell me that I have to write a letter of
22 appeal, and I am not going to write a letter of appeal
23 because I done been through this thing too long. I got
24 lists, I got names, I got phone numbers, I have
25 conversations, everything.

1 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Now, who is telling you
2 that you can't get -- that you have to write a letter?

3 MS. BOONE: I called here yesterday after I
4 had talked on the April 1st, and it was yesterday that
5 I called here and talked to a lady here because I
6 wanted to talk to the Chief or somebody connected to
7 him after all of this. And so this officer, I have got
8 her name here, but she -- I've got no minutes probably
9 now -- but I have her name here. But anyway, she told
10 me -- she called the investigator, the Chief Nichols,
11 Nichols, I got his name, I got names, but anyway, I am
12 trying to hurry up.

13 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Let me bring up the
14 Chief Investigator.

15 MS. DAVIS-DRAKE: I will see her out.

16 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: You are going to see her
17 out? Okay. All right. She is going to take care of
18 you.

19 MS. BOONE: Okay.

20 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay. All right. Are
21 there any more comments?

22 MR. RHOADES: Good afternoon. My name is
23 Pete Rhoades. I have been before the Board on many,
24 many occasions.

25 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Yes, sir.

1 MR. RHOADES: I don't have a big problem. I
2 have a little, tiny problem about the way the Detroit
3 Police Department handles business license enforcement.
4 And since we are still waiting for the ultimate
5 decision to finally work its way through the system, I
6 will just use my two minutes, and in the past I have
7 used my two minutes to say that I have a vision that
8 maybe a civilian employee with a desktop computer could
9 handle all the business licenses in the City of Detroit
10 through the established Show Cause Hearing method, and
11 actually take care of all these problems without the
12 involvement of the police. And that would free up
13 police resources. It has run successfully many times,
14 even in Detroit.

15 Last week I had a vision that maybe the Board
16 of Police Commissioners will actually be able to, after
17 all this evaluation, set a policy for the Police
18 Department, that the show cause system is a system that
19 should be worked, and not giving minimum wage employees
20 misdemeanor tickets for 90 days in jail and \$500.

21 Today, I am going to use my remaining
22 30 seconds to bring up another idea, you know, when the
23 Police Department has a business that is a problem
24 business, they can bring that business license problem
25 to a Show Cause Hearing officer who will actually

1 listen to the history surrounding that business, and
2 then either revoke or suspend the business license, and
3 that would resolve the problem.

4 We just had a homicide detective up here,
5 gave an excellent presentation. One of the incidents
6 last year had to do with a barber shop that had a
7 history of gambling in the backroom. Now, no one knows
8 if the gambling in the backroom was the spark that
9 caused a multiple homicide, but when the local precinct
10 knows that the barber shop has gambling in the
11 backroom, and it has been going on for a while, they
12 can bring that problem to a Show Cause Hearing officer,
13 who will listen to the evidence, listen to both sides,
14 and if appropriate, revoke the license. And that would
15 be one of those proactive things that would reduce
16 homicides in Detroit.

17 Thank you very much.

18 And some day, I know, we will get a
19 resolution to the small little problem that we have
20 concerning business licenses.

21 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Thank you, sir.

22 At this time, I am going to -- we are going
23 to go into closed session, and the meeting will
24 reconvene --

25 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Any other comments?

1 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: I am sorry. I am
2 rushing your comments.

3 You don't have any?

4 MS. SMITH: No. Are you ready?

5 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Yes, ma'am. I thought
6 she was going to wait until after the closed session.

7 MS. SMITH: I will be very brief. Bernice
8 Smith, Human Resources.

9 Commissioner, Chief, glad to have you,
10 Commissioners.

11 That was a very good report and I am very
12 elated that we had less homicides than for last year.
13 I have taken some of the notes down. When I get
14 through, I would like to ask him where one is, 13 is,
15 because you only have one homicide? I think that's
16 wonderful. Might be down in Midtown.

17 But anyway, last week, Thursday, I was at the
18 meeting where the Mayor spoke to the parishioners and
19 the public during a meeting. And when it was over
20 with, one of the firemen came towards me that I knew
21 and we spoke. I was very disturbed because of the fact
22 that he stated that there were a class of firemen of
23 over 50, and there were only four Detroiters. So you
24 can judge for yourself what -- what nationality it was.

25 Now, my question is to the Commission, and to

1 the Police Department, do we have a standing class now
2 of police officers? And how many Detroiters are in the
3 class?

4 D.C. BROWN: I have to follow up with that
5 information.

6 MS. SMITH: All right.

7 D.C. BROWN: And your question is, ma'am, if
8 there is a current Academy class.

9 MS. SMITH: That's right. Police.

10 D.C. BROWN: And how many of those are
11 Detroiters?

12 MS. SMITH: That's right.

13 D.C. BROWN: Residents.

14 MS. SMITH: That's right.

15 D.C. BROWN: I will follow up with that.

16 MS. SMITH: I had something else. Oh, the
17 Police Department, as we all know, has been very
18 diligent in regards to combatting crime. Yesterday we
19 saw on TV the race going up and down the highway there.
20 And I want to commend the Police Department on their
21 job in trying to -- and during the capture of those
22 criminals, and if you would notice the age limit, and
23 it is getting worse and worse with these kids. We must
24 get a program together for these kids to come. If they
25 are not going to school, put them in a skilled training

1 school, so we can get them off the street, and they can
2 be able to do something and get a skill, and won't have
3 the excuse of saying, I did this because I got to make
4 money for my child or whatever the case may be. It is
5 horrible for them to make that reply. So I just think
6 we should think about that, starting a school. We have
7 got a lot of schools that are closed. And talk with
8 Martin or whoever what we can do to get these schools
9 so we can have someone be able to teach these kids some
10 kind of skill, because they need it badly, and we need
11 to get them off the street.

12 Also, I would like very much -- the Chief was
13 on the radio program Thursday, and he stated that --
14 because I called into question, why don't we have the
15 crime report anymore? I was told, not by the Chief,
16 but somebody else, that the business people do not want
17 it to be publicized anymore, the crimes, because that
18 harassment of their business, and the fact that they
19 will not have customers coming into their business. I
20 think that's the most asinine answer. We need to know,
21 the public need to know, we were used to crime reports
22 in the mornings on 1200, and we need to know again.
23 And I hope that Chief will think about it and let us
24 know about the crime because the newspapers are not
25 letting us know about the crimes here in the City. And

1 we need to know about that.

2 Thank you so much for your time.

3 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: All right.

4 MS. SMITH: Any answer about the class? You
5 will let me know next week?

6 D.C. BROWN: I will let you know about that
7 as well as intervention and prevention programs. And
8 the 24-hour crime report, I believe is still posted on
9 the website, as indicated.

10 MS. SMITH: Yeah, but I don't have a website,
11 me, I don't.

12 D.C. BROWN: Sorry.

13 MS. SMITH: A lot of seniors don't.

14 D.C. BROWN: It is available on Wednesdays at
15 10:00 if anybody wants to join us at our Compstat.

16 MS. SMITH: And that's located?

17 D.C. BROWN: Here.

18 MS. SMITH: Oh, in the building, come down
19 here?

20 D.C. BROWN: Yes, ma'am.

21 MS. SMITH: What time?

22 D.C. BROWN: 10:00 a.m. every Wednesday.

23 MS. SMITH: Every Wednesday. Thank you.

24 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Madam Chair, I just want
25 to add, through the Chair.

1 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Yes.

2 COMMISSIONER WHITE: D.C. Brown, a few weeks
3 back we did ask First Deputy Chief Oxendine to provide
4 a strategy for which we were pursuing Detroiters and
5 getting them into this recruitment process. And we
6 were promised a report back. And so I would just urge
7 if we could have a follow-up on where we are with that
8 report.

9 D.C. BROWN: Okay. She just left. We will
10 follow up with that. We will put it on an item for
11 next business.

12 MR. WELBORNE: Bill Welborne,
13 W-e-l-b-o-r-n-e, President, Citywide.

14 Thinking back on what Ms. Smith is saying
15 about these kids. I have been working with the Chief's
16 program called City Camp. We are at Henderson Middle
17 School and Cody High School. And we are in our eighth
18 week now. And I tell you, it is atrocious, kids are
19 atrocious there. We have lost two kids already because
20 they refuse to do what they are supposed to do.

21 A couple days ago, they locked up -- they had
22 to take two kids out in handcuffs. One is 12 and one
23 is 13, two girls. They refused to go back where they
24 came from. When the officers picked them up, and the
25 officer was supposed to take them back where they came

1 from, well, they didn't want to go, they going to curse
2 everybody out. I been cursed out so many times, it
3 doesn't bother me anymore.

4 Now, these are middle school kids, not high
5 school kids, these are kids from sixth to ninth grade,
6 eighth grade, whatever it is. And these kids have --
7 they walk out the classroom, they talk, and, you know,
8 you sit down and you try to talk to them, try to
9 explain to them that we have something to offer them,
10 we are trying to help them to better themselves. But
11 trying to get the point across is almost like talking
12 to this wall over here. They get to school, they want
13 to come just -- the girls get in a fight right in the
14 classroom.

15 We got four officers in classrooms, with
16 guns; five people, volunteers, in the classroom. It
17 has nine adults there. They couldn't give -- they
18 couldn't care less about us. Say, get out my way. Who
19 you think you are? That's what they say. And they
20 call you all kinds of names.

21 The three girls -- the two girls that were
22 missing about three weeks ago, was in that class. One
23 girl is 12 years old. One girl is 13 years old. And
24 instead of them going home from school, they met two
25 guys. And the parents are looking for them. They

1 finally found where they were at, they spent the night
2 with guys 18, 19 years old.

3 And I don't want to see the program out,
4 myself. Myself, a lot of people know Coach Hammond.
5 He is there. A lot of officers come there every day,
6 we try to work with these kids. But these kids, we are
7 having a hard time. These kids, these middle school
8 kids, and that's -- the high school kids aren't that
9 bad. We got a couple kids in high school that, you
10 know, they ain't going to make it. We got some, we got
11 about five, that has really turned a 180, I mean, a
12 complete 180. They got two kids there that they said,
13 a year ago, if you had looked at them the wrong way,
14 they would curse you out, ready to fight you. These
15 kids now leading the class. You have other kids --
16 that's what we are trying to do and, you know, these
17 are kids that we trying to help. I told the kids,
18 everything -- I am going to try to do all I can to help
19 them out. Anything they need, I will take them out to
20 the base out there I told the kids.

21 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Two minutes.

22 MR. WELBORNE: Oh, okay. I told the kids I
23 would take them out to Selfridge out there, to the Air
24 Force pilot, take them out to Selfridge out there, and
25 give them a ride on a KC-135, which is a tanker. And I

1 think they would enjoy that, because most kids haven't
2 even seen a fighter plane or aircraft or anything like
3 that. So --

4 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Yes, sir.

5 MR. WELBORNE: -- I want to do that for them,
6 come over by themselves, or somebody come over and talk
7 to these kids.

8 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: All right. Thank you,
9 Mr. Welborne. Really some good work you are doing. We
10 hope you keep that up.

11 ANNA ROMANO: Okay. Thank you. Anna Romano.

12 And I am part of City Camp. And I wanted to
13 share a little something with you because I have been
14 with these kids since day one.

15 This is an e-mail that was sent out
16 yesterday, and many times we feel like our work is in
17 vain; tend to feel frustrated, annoyed and sometimes
18 ready to give up. These last two days, though, are why
19 we do some of the things we do; awesome circles
20 yesterday at Cody and two awesome circles today. One
21 with eight members of a Detroit gang who came to the
22 realization that a lot of people care about them and
23 love them. At Henderson, a male student completely
24 opened up about his mom being incarcerated and how he
25 feels about it. We also received a call from one of

1 the female student's mom updating us on her status, and
2 that she will be getting medication and family
3 counseling, and thanked us. Another female mom reached
4 out to get her and her daughter out of an abusive
5 house.

6 So grow -- I'm going to read the entire
7 e-mail -- so grow not weary in well-doing for in due
8 time you shall reap. Keep on the good work and have a
9 blessed night.

10 So we are making tremendous progress with
11 these students. I know at times we feel that we don't,
12 but we have truly. A lot of these kids have made
13 75 percent progress. And there were two that we could
14 not reach. But they had other issues also that it
15 entailed, and it was above and beyond what we could
16 help them with.

17 So hopefully, on Saturday, SRT will be
18 joining us on April 12th from 10:00 to 1:00, and you
19 are all welcome to join us. We do have lunch from
20 12:00 to 1:00, so if the Board members would like to
21 come out and see the children firsthand, on April 12th,
22 we welcome you all.

23 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: All right. Thank you.

24 MS. OWENS: Good afternoon. My name is Gina
25 Owens. And I am from District 5. And I wanted to

1 discuss some safety concerns at the 750 Chene property
2 where there is a courtyard. There once was a police
3 mini station there. That needs to be revisited,
4 because it is unsafe there.

5 We have people that are breaking into the
6 apartment building, coming over through the ceiling and
7 down. We have an issue with NSO people moving in with
8 seniors, and going through all types of tumultuous
9 situations.

10 Walking through that courtyard through the
11 breezeway, there's urination smells. There's still
12 drug dealing being done there. There seems to be no
13 force of making those businessmen be responsible for
14 what goes on in the community. Having drugs being sold
15 outside the building; just a lot of lurid behavior, a
16 lot of car thefts and a lot of parts being stolen off
17 cars, people staying in the building.

18 We had an incident where a man was in the
19 building for four days and they could not find him.
20 Nobody in the building knew he was in there. And we
21 just happened to find out, and my girlfriend, who was
22 very ill, got off the elevator, and there he stood
23 bloody and threatened her. Nobody told us that this
24 was going on in the building. But he came in through a
25 back door. That's why they couldn't catch him on the

1 canvass in the front.

2 But I would like to see more police presence
3 in that area. I thank the police for what they did at
4 Martin Luther King, but it has not been enough because
5 it still goes on.

6 And I e-mailed the Chief and I let him know,
7 you know, that they are doing hand passes now. They
8 have something for everything, but it is really hard,
9 and I am not -- I am a senior, I am not all the way
10 there, but I am going to be there, and it is very hard
11 on us not being able to -- I talk to the people in the
12 building. I have talked to our representative, he is
13 coming, taking pictures. And he does come out and meet
14 with us, but we need to have a mini station or a police
15 presence or a foot patrol there to secure some change,
16 and just so I can sleep at night.

17 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Thank you.

18 D.C. BROWN: If you would, would you get with
19 my Chief of Staff so that I can get that information?

20 MR. STIDHAM: Good afternoon, Madam Chair,
21 Commissioners, Deputy Chief. My name is Tom Stidham.

22 I just wanted to follow-up with the Board
23 from our prior appearance at City Council concerning
24 the towing. And it is very clear from some of the
25 statements that were made there that the City -- or

1 specifically Municipal Parking intends on at least
2 exploring the possible expansion of its program. And
3 as this Board has previously taken a position that such
4 an expansion violates the Charter, and conflicts with
5 some of the obligations in the specific province of
6 this Board, we would ask again that the Board take a
7 greater role, a more active role, in addressing the
8 matter with the Administration.

9 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay. And we did have
10 some representation at that meeting, did we not?
11 Aliyah? George?

12 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Yes.

13 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Do you have any
14 comments?

15 COMMISSIONER BELL: I have a brief comment.
16 My understanding that Council -- Council did hold --
17 did they make a decision on this matter on Tuesday, to
18 table it?

19 MR. STIDHAM: No. What the Council did is
20 they voted to approve those contracts. Those contracts
21 actually expire in January of this year. These were
22 for last year, for the last year. So they are
23 still -- but they haven't, quote, unquote, voted, no
24 one has voted on anything with respect to the expansion
25 of the Municipal Parking program.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: I spoke to Councilman
2 Benson recently, reference to that matter. I guess
3 they are pursuing it to see exactly what's going to
4 take place, and so you are correct, we should monitor
5 and stay involved. That's my concern. He even took
6 steps to visit the pound. And he said he was not
7 impressed at all, you know, by the City is engaging
8 this once again, just to share that tidbit with you,
9 but basically we are monitoring, we want to be more
10 involved with that whole process. It has been a
11 long-standing matter, as you well know.

12 MR. STIDHAM: Yes.

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: The hearing was very
14 interesting in reference to our role and our
15 involvement. Council is very sensitive to our concern.

16 MR. STIDHAM: Well, we are asking this body
17 to come not just take a monitoring role but actually
18 revisit some of its prior positions, and engage the
19 Administration concerning its prior concerns, which
20 quite frankly, have never been addressed by the
21 Administration, or not in a real substantive manner.
22 So again, we simply implore this Board to become more
23 actively involved.

24 So thank you.

25 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Madam Chair, I would

1 just add, I know we did have a staff representative
2 there at that meeting. We have not received an
3 official kind of report back, if there are
4 recommendations that we should take as a body, but if
5 we could implore our staff to maybe provide such a
6 recommendation in lieu of -- if there are Charter
7 violations or not, if there is overreachings, or
8 anything that we should be responsive to, maybe that
9 concern can be addressed in the form of a communication
10 to both City Council and/or the Mayor's Office on
11 behalf of this body. And I know there's some other
12 steps if, in fact, we decide to look closer at rules
13 and regulations, and that's an entirely different
14 process where we have to open up community forums and
15 meetings and the like, but I am not sure of what has
16 transpired in that meeting, if anything. I did have a
17 conversation with Councilman Benson, as well, but I
18 didn't hear anything that sounds to be overreaching
19 where the Charter is being violated, per se. So I
20 would take counsel from our staff if, in fact, there is
21 anything to the contrary.

22 MR. STIDHAM: Madam Chair, may I just -- I
23 didn't realize, I misspoke. The contracts that the
24 City Council approved were limited to AB vehicles, and
25 it ran I said from January apparently, but they only go

1 through I believe July 1st or 31st of this year, they
2 expire. So -- but again, we do believe, if I may,
3 through the Chair, Mr. Vice Chair, we do believe that
4 certain provisions of the Charter, that this Board
5 previously has taken that position, some of the actions
6 of Municipal Parking do conflict directly with that,
7 and we will be happy to share that with the Board's
8 counsel, and the Secretary, as well.

9 So thank you.

10 COMMISSIONER WHITE: You have done a good job
11 in the past, Tom. So if there are those instances, if
12 you could cite those and provide it to the Board, that
13 would give us some concerns to look into.

14 MR. STIDHAM: We will. Thank you.

15 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: All right. Thank you,
16 Tom.

17 ATTORNEY WASHINGTON: Madam Chair, Celia
18 Washington, legal advisor.

19 Just as a matter of record, from that Council
20 meeting, they did request that the Law Department give
21 an opinion, and if Mr. Stidham is saying that they
22 voted on those contracts, that must mean that that
23 opinion had been rendered, because I have had a couple
24 of conversations with the staff attorneys who were
25 writing it, so --

1 MR. STIDHAM: I can just represent that they
2 represented to Council, Mr. Smith did, that the opinion
3 was done. It was on the corporate counsel's desk. He
4 just needed to sign it on Tuesday.

5 ATTORNEY WASHINGTON: So Madam Chair,
6 Mr. Vice Chair, we will make sure, because if they are
7 telling me they voted, there is an opinion out there.
8 So we will make sure that Counsel and Mr. Secretary get
9 a copy of that, and then they can provide advice,
10 Mr. Vice Chair, in response to that opinion.

11 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay. All right. Thank
12 you, ma'am.

13 MS. BROWN: Hello. My name is Griselda
14 Brown, and it is concerning an apartment building on
15 Bryden Street. This is a proposal, but a cry for help.

16 In 1993, I moved into this apartment
17 building, and in 2006, it was acquired by a drug lord
18 that is now in federal prison, in Florida. And since
19 2007 until now, the family of that drug lord has been
20 in control of the apartment building, taking the rent,
21 but not applying it to the taxes. There were a couple
22 instances where the water company wanted to cut it off,
23 and if it had -- a tenant's family had not paid a third
24 of it, 2,000, we would not have any water.

25 And in February of this month, in February --

1 on February 12th, I am a little nervous, so bear with
2 me, on February 12th, I went down to the Register of
3 Deeds to find out what was happening because I was in
4 Florida at the time and people were calling me saying
5 there's something going on, the building has been in
6 foreclosure, etcetera, etcetera, etcetera.

7 To make a long story short, the building was
8 transferred from one company called Savvy 1 to another
9 company called RMOA, LLC, to a third company, Bryden
10 Michigan, LLP, that is in Singapore, Singapore.

11 I was taken to 36th District Court about
12 payment of rent. The judge said there has to be a
13 management contract, to say who is authorized to take
14 money. That didn't happen. And this family member of
15 this drug lord is still harassing people, and trying to
16 take rent and doing other things. And people have seen
17 and heard things that relate to narcotics trafficking
18 and other illegal kinds of activity. So we need some
19 help in removing this person who is not authorized to
20 take money or on any paperwork.

21 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: D.C. Brown, can you help
22 Ms. Brown?

23 D.C. BROWN: Yes. I will follow up after the
24 meeting.

25 The first part sounds like a civil matter.

1 The second part relates to what I thought I
2 heard was criminality, so I will find out.

3 Would you give me the address, though?

4 MS. BROWN: 1250 Bryden Street.

5 D.C. BROWN: I will follow up after the
6 meeting.

7 MS. BROWN: And I will just briefly talk with
8 the commissioner, too.

9 Thank you.

10 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Thank you, ma'am.

11 Are there any other comments?

12 If there is no other comments, then we
13 will -- I will ask the Secretary to take us into closed
14 session, and we will reconvene after and go back on the
15 record after we come out of closed session.

16 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Thank you, Madam Chair.
17 For the record, George Anthony, Secretary to the Board.

18 As a public body, your meetings are subject
19 to the Open Meetings Act, the OMA. The OMA defines a
20 meeting as the convening of a public body in which a
21 quorum is present for the purpose of deliberating
22 towards or rendering a decision on a public policy,
23 MCL 15.262(b). The OMA, however, does allow a public
24 body to call a closed session, one limited to the
25 public body and its invitees for specific purposes.

1 Only deliberations may be conducted in closed session.
2 All decisions must be made at a meeting open to the
3 public. While in the closed session, the Board makes
4 no decisions. That must be done on the record.

5 At the Board meeting scheduled for Thursday,
6 April 3rd, 2014, unless there is an objection, the
7 Board is scheduled to go into closed session to discuss
8 the rejected application of Bradley Turner. The closed
9 session will be called pursuant to MCL 15.268(h) of the
10 Open Meetings Act, which states in part, a public body
11 may meet in a closed session to consider material
12 exempt from discussion or disclosure by State or
13 Federal statute.

14 At this point, Madam Chair, a motion is in
15 order to go into closed session.

16 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Is there a motion?

17 COMMISSIONER BYRD: So moved.

18 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Is there a second?

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: Second.

20 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: It has been moved and
21 seconded.

22 Any discussion?

23 All in favor?

24 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

25 All opposed?

1 We will now go into closed session.

2 (Off the record at about 4:02 p.m.)

3 (On the record at about 4:49 p.m.)

4 SECRETARY ANTHONY: For the record, George
5 Anthony, Secretary to the Board.

6 Madam Chair, it is appropriate for a motion
7 to come back into open session.

8 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: I will entertain a
9 motion to come back into open session.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: So moved, Madam Chair.

11 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Second.

12 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: It has been moved and
13 seconded.

14 Are there any discussion?

15 All in favor?

16 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

17 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: All opposed?

18 Back in open session.

19 Okay. Attorney Sabree, can you come forward
20 with the recommendation?

21 ATTORNEY SABREE: For the record, Aliyah
22 Sabree.

23 In regard to Mr. Bradley Turner, it is my
24 recommendation to deny his appeal. There is nothing in
25 the record to indicate that the decision to disqualify

1 Mr. Turner from the selection process was an abuse of
2 discretion. Rather, the decision reached by the
3 Department was based on the candidate's failure to meet
4 several Department standards.

5 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay.

6 ATTORNEY SABREE: Thank you.

7 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: A motion is in order to
8 accept or not the recommendation of Attorney Sabree.

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair, I move that
10 we accept the recommendation of the attorney for this
11 Board.

12 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay. It has been
13 moved.

14 Is there a second?

15 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Second.

16 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay. It has been moved
17 and seconded that we accept the recommendation from
18 Attorney Sabree.

19 Are there any discussion?

20 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Madam Chair, if I may, I
21 believe there were two recusals, and those probably
22 should be on the record, ma'am.

23 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay.

24 SECRETARY ANTHONY: From the vote.

25 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Yes. And that was

1 from --

2 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner White and
3 Commissioner Burton.

4 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: Okay.

5 So all in favor?

6 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

7 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: All opposed?

8 Is there any abstentions?

9 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Abstain.

10 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: One abstention. And the
11 ayes have it. And the motion will carry to accept
12 Attorney Sabree's recommendation to deny the appeal.

13 Well, I will entertain a motion that we
14 adjourn.

15 VICE CHAIR WHITE: So moved.

16 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Second.

17 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: All in favor?

18 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

19 CHAIRPERSON TAYLOR: All opposed?

20 The ayes have it. The meeting is adjourned.

21 (Proceedings concluded at 4:52 p.m.)

22

23

24

25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

STATE OF MICHIGAN)
) SS
COUNTY OF ST. CLAIR)

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I reported
stenographically the foregoing proceedings and
testimony under oath at the time and place hereinbefore
set forth; that thereafter the same was reduced to
computer transcription under my supervision; and that
this is a full, true, complete and correct
transcription of said proceedings.



Rhonda M. Foster

Rhonda M. Foster,

CSR 3612

Notary Public

My Commission Expires: 3-11-2015

A
AB 46:24
able 31:16 35:2
 35:9 43:11
aboard 5:3
absolutely 13:6
 14:2 15:3
 17:24 18:16, 21
 21:21
Abstain 54:9
abstention 54:10
abstentions 54:8
abuse 53:1
abusive 41:4
Academy 34:8
accept 53:8, 10
 53:17 54:11
accompanying
 4:24
acknowledge 26:8
acquired 48:17
Act 50:19 51:10
actions 47:5
active 44:7
actively 17:3
 45:23
activity 49:18
actual 11:9
add 36:25 46:1
addition 25:23
additional 10:25
address 50:3
addressed 45:20
 46:9
addressing 44:7
adjourn 54:14
adjourned 54:20
Administration
 44:8 45:19, 21
adopt 26:16, 24
 27:5, 5
adoption 26:19
adults 38:17
advice 48:9
advisor 47:18
Advisory 25:18
advocates 13:7
 14:10
Affairs 29:19
afternoon 3:5
 6:25 30:22

41:24 43:20
age 25:1 34:22
agencies 20:16
agenda 5:25 6:9
 6:20
agent 8:16
ago 7:20 37:21
 38:22 39:13
agree 17:23
ain't 39:10
Air 39:23
aircraft 40:2
Alan 5:6
Alcohol 8:14
Aliyah 4:21
 44:11 52:21
allow 50:23
allows 7:6
Amazing 9:10
Amen 5:22, 23
Andersville
 24:25
and/or 46:10
Angela 27:19
angels 5:21
Anna 40:11, 11
annoyed 40:17
another's 12:16
answer 35:20
 36:4
answers 29:20
Anthony 2:11
 3:11, 12, 16, 19
 3:22, 25 4:3, 6
 4:9, 11, 19 5:5
 24:8, 13 44:12
 50:16, 17 52:4
 52:5 53:20, 24
 54:2
anxiety 13:2
anybody 20:23
 28:10 36:15
anymore 35:15, 17
 38:3
anyway 30:9, 11
 33:17
apartment 42:6
 48:14, 16, 20
apparently 46:25
appeal 29:22, 22
 52:24 54:12
appearance 43:23

Applause 24:3
applicant 24:11
application 51:8
applying 48:21
appreciate 21:18
apprehension 9:5
approach 8:2
appropriate
 32:14 52:6
approval 24:21
approve 5:25
 6:10 44:20
approved 6:9, 20
 6:21 46:24
April 1:14 3:2, 7
 5:25 24:25
 27:9, 13, 23
 30:4 41:18, 21
 51:6
area 14:13 43:3
areas 14:16
Army 25:10
arrest 9:5 10:5
 10:10, 24 11:20
 23:18 29:3
arrested 11:11
arresting 11:7
articles 20:6
asinine 35:20
asked 13:19
asking 45:16
assignments 7:22
 7:23
assistance 22:3
ATF 8:16
atrocious 37:18
 37:19
attorney 4:20
 47:17 48:5
 52:19, 21 53:6
 53:8, 10, 18
 54:12
attorneys 47:24
audience 5:23
 27:15
authority 28:24
authorized 49:13
 49:19
automatic 19:9
available 36:14
average 22:3
aware 16:13

awesome 40:19, 20
Aye 6:7, 18 27:3
 51:24 52:16
 54:6, 18
eyes 54:11, 20
a.m 36:22

B
back 9:20, 21
 10:21 18:8, 17
 18:19 21:11
 22:17 37:3, 6
 37:14, 23, 25
 42:25 46:3
 50:14 52:7, 9
 52:18
background 20:12
backroom 32:7, 8
 32:11
backup 29:7
bad 14:3 20:23
 39:9
badly 35:10
banging 28:7, 22
Baptist 26:3
barber 8:20 32:6
 32:10
base 17:8 39:20
based 53:3
basically 8:3
 9:15 45:9
basis 19:18, 23
bear 49:1
beginning 8:4, 7
behalf 26:6
 46:11
behavior 23:13
 42:15
believe 17:11
 23:6 36:8 47:1
 47:2, 3 53:21
Bell 2:7 4:1, 2
 6:2, 12 12:9, 23
 14:12, 23 16:6
 20:2, 5, 25
 23:25 44:15
 45:1, 13 51:19
 52:10 53:9
beneficial 15:5
benefits 15:6
Benson 45:2
 46:17

Bentler 8:21
Bernice 33:7
best 23:15
better 38:10
beyond 41:15
big 10:1,2 14:19
 31:1
biggest 14:22
 15:17
Bill 37:12
birthday 24:23
 26:9,11,17,25
 27:7
blessed 41:9
blessing 5:20
Block 25:23
bloody 42:23
Board 1:3 3:13
 4:12,21 5:1,15
 13:14 24:22
 26:6,14,24
 29:12 30:23
 31:15 41:20
 43:22 44:3,6,6
 45:22 47:4,12
 50:17 51:3,5,7
 52:5 53:11
Board's 47:7
body 13:1 16:19
 17:1 45:16
 46:4,11 50:18
 50:20,24,25
 51:10
bonus 23:4
Boone 27:19,19
 29:15 30:3,19
born 24:24
bother 38:3
Bradley 24:14
 51:8 52:23
breaking 42:5
breezeway 42:11
brief 33:7 44:15
briefing 9:8
 13:19
briefly 50:7
bring 20:21
 30:13 31:22,24
 32:12
bringing 10:25
brings 11:7 14:3
 14:5

Brown 2:16 4:15
 4:16 5:6 23:8
 23:10 34:4,7
 34:10,13,15
 36:6,12,14,17
 36:20,22 37:2
 37:9 43:18
 48:13,14 49:21
 49:22,23 50:4
 50:5,7
Bryden 48:15
 49:9 50:4
bubble 17:25
Bug 21:7,8
building 26:9
 28:4,14,15,16
 28:18,20,21,24
 36:18 42:6,15
 42:17,19,20,24
 43:12 48:14,17
 48:20 49:5,7
built 25:20
Bureau 8:14
Burton 2:8 4:4,5
 54:3
business 24:17
 24:17,19 28:25
 31:3,9,23,24
 31:24 32:1,2
 32:20 35:16,18
 35:19 37:11
businessmen
 42:13
Byrd 2:5 3:20,21
 24:20 51:17

C

calendar 13:22
call 3:10 4:18
 13:16,20,21,21
 13:22 14:4
 18:11,15,15,20
 18:21 29:19
 38:20 40:25
 50:24
called 18:11,14
 22:12 29:7
 30:3,5,10
 35:14 37:16
 49:8,9 51:9
calling 3:6 29:6
 49:4

Camp 37:16 40:12
candidate 25:24
candidate's 53:3
canvass 43:1
Captain 6:25 7:1
 11:17 12:3,6,9
 12:15 13:6
 14:18 15:3
 16:5,13,16,23
 17:8,23 18:7
 18:16 19:8,14
 19:24 20:14
 21:21 22:8,11
 23:9,18,22,24
 24:2
capture 34:21
car 28:10,23
 42:16
care 30:17 31:11
 38:18 40:22
career 22:14,14
carry 54:11
cars 42:17
Carter 2:9 4:9
 4:10 53:15
case 7:5,5,7,7
 7:16,18,18 9:2
 9:11,12 11:16
 11:22 12:5
 13:18 18:8,10
 18:12,19,22
 27:23 35:4
cases 8:19 9:9
 10:17,19,20,21
 10:25 11:19,19
 11:21 12:25
 16:14,17 17:3
 17:16,25 19:17
 19:19,21 22:23
 23:1
case-by-case
 14:6
catch 42:25
caught 15:9 29:1
cause 31:10,18
 31:25 32:12
caused 32:9
ceiling 42:6
Celia 47:17
Center 25:20
central 7:25
certain 13:25

18:14 19:5
 47:4
certainly 13:24
 17:2 20:14
CERTIFICATE 55:1
CERTIFY 55:7
Chair 3:11 4:11
 4:19 5:14
 11:15,25 12:9
 16:1 18:6,25
 19:25 20:2
 21:23 23:10
 24:9 26:18
 36:24,25 43:20
 45:25 46:22
 47:3,3,17 48:5
 48:6,10 50:16
 51:14 52:6,10
 53:9,20 54:15
Chairperson 2:2
 2:3 3:5,8 4:13
 4:17 5:10,24
 6:3,8,14,19
 11:14 12:7
 14:24 15:24
 16:2 18:5 20:1
 20:4 21:24
 23:23 24:1,4
 24:12,15 26:15
 26:20,23 27:4
 29:14 30:1,13
 30:16,20,25
 32:21 33:1,5
 36:3 37:1
 39:21 40:4,8
 41:23 43:17
 44:9,13 47:15
 48:11 49:21
 50:10 51:16,18
 51:20 52:8,12
 52:17 53:5,7
 53:12,16,23,25
 54:4,7,10,17
 54:19
change 43:15
charge 7:1
charger 23:11
charges 10:5
Charter 44:4
 46:6,19 47:4
Chene 42:1
Chief 4:22,23,24

20:15 22:12,15
 23:6,12 27:24
 29:12,13,14,17
 30:6,10,14
 33:9 35:12,15
 35:23 37:3
 43:6,19,21
Chief's 4:14
 13:15 37:15
child 35:4
children 25:1,8
 41:21
chose 23:6
church 26:2,3
circles 40:19,20
cite 47:12
cities 22:6
citizens 10:15
 13:24 17:15
 26:7
city 5:20 9:1,17
 9:23 14:21
 15:6,13 25:4,5
 25:25 26:7
 31:9 35:25
 37:16 40:12
 43:23,25 45:7
 46:10,24
Citywide 37:13
City's 26:3
civil 49:25
civilian 31:8
claimed 28:20
CLAIR 55:5
class 33:22 34:1
 34:3,8 36:4
 38:22 39:15
classroom 38:7
 38:14,16
classrooms 38:15
clear 43:24
clearance 10:6,7
 10:12,18,23
 11:12,20
closed 8:22 10:4
 10:17,19,22,24
 10:24 11:19
 19:20 22:23
 27:23 32:23
 33:6 35:7
 50:13,15,24
 51:1,3,7,8,11

51:15 52:1
closer 46:12
closing 15:7
closure 9:14
 15:21 22:2,16
closures 10:1,20
 22:21,22
Club 25:23
Coach 39:4
Cody 37:17 40:20
cold 11:16,21,22
combatting 34:18
come 5:12,16
 13:1,14 18:13
 21:15 22:7,10
 23:6 24:17
 27:16,18 34:24
 36:18 38:13
 39:5 40:6,6
 41:21 43:13
 45:17 50:15
 52:7,9,19
comes 7:11 8:5
 10:19 11:22
 15:22
comfortable
 21:15
coming 9:16
 15:13 17:6,15
 17:17 18:2
 35:19 42:6
 43:13
COMMAND 2:15
Commander 7:13
Commencing 1:13
commend 34:20
comment 44:15
comments 18:10
 27:17 30:21
 32:25 33:2
 44:14 50:11,12
Commission 33:25
 55:20
commissioner 2:4
 2:5,7,8,9,10
 3:7,14,15,16
 3:18,19,21,22
 3:24,25 4:2,3
 4:5,6,8,9,10
 6:1,2,12,13
 11:15,24 12:4
 12:9,23 14:12

14:23,25 15:25
 16:3,3,6,15,22
 17:5,19 18:4,5
 18:6,24 19:10
 19:22,25 20:2
 20:5,25 21:23
 21:25 22:5,9
 23:5,25 24:20
 26:18,22 27:5
 32:25 33:9
 36:24 37:2
 44:15 45:1,13
 45:25 47:10
 50:8 51:17,19
 52:10,11 53:9
 53:15 54:2,3,9
 54:16
Commissioners
 1:3 2:1 5:15
 6:7,18,25
 11:14 24:21,22
 26:6,14 27:3
 31:16 33:10
 43:21 51:24
 52:16 54:6,18
commitment 26:9
committee 24:5
 24:16
commonalities
 9:13
communication
 13:5 46:9
communications
 27:14
community 17:7
 17:21 18:2
 21:2,10 25:15
 25:17 26:10
 27:13 42:14
 46:14
company 48:22
 49:8,9,9
complaint 18:18
 28:2
complaints 13:13
 13:17
complete 39:12
 55:12
completely 40:23
Compstat 36:15
computer 31:8
 55:11

concern 21:11
 45:5,15 46:9
concerning 32:20
 43:23 45:19
 48:14
concerns 42:1
 45:19 47:13
concluded 54:21
concludes 5:9
conducted 51:1
conflict 47:6
conflicts 44:4
congratulate
 22:1
connected 30:6
Conner 27:10,11
consent 21:6
consider 51:11
consultation
 19:3
contact 13:3,24
 14:9
contacted 19:7
continual 14:9
continue 18:3
 22:23
contract 49:13
contracts 44:20
 44:20 46:23
 47:22
contrary 46:21
control 48:20
convening 50:20
conversation
 46:17
conversations
 29:25 47:24
cooperate 29:6
cooperative 8:13
copy 48:9
corporate 48:3
correct 12:6
 19:24 45:4
 55:12
correctly 18:9
Council 25:18,25
 43:23 44:16,16
 44:19 45:15
 46:10,24 47:19
 48:2
Councilman 45:1
 46:17

counsel 46:20
47:8 48:8
counseling 41:3
counsel's 48:3
country 25:9
County 28:16, 18
55:5
couple 8:19 11:8
17:12 25:8
37:21 39:9
47:23 48:21
Court 5:8 49:11
courtyard 42:2
42:10
Crawford 2:6
3:23, 24 15:25
16:3, 4, 15, 22
17:5, 19 18:4
22:5, 9 26:22
crazy 28:8
Creek 27:10, 12
crew 17:13
crime 8:4 10:3
15:13, 17 17:17
17:25 34:18
35:15, 21, 24
36:8
crimes 10:4
35:17, 25
criminal 12:17
12:22
criminality 50:2
criminals 34:22
critical 11:25
12:1
crucial 13:7
cry 48:15
CSR 1:15 55:18
current 9:14, 20
10:22 34:8
currently 9:16
10:22 11:12
14:20 16:24
17:2
curse 38:1 39:14
cursed 38:2
customers 35:19
cut 48:22
CVS 9:3 17:10

D

Darryl 2:16 4:14

data 7:11
date 18:14, 20, 21
19:6
daughter 41:4
Davis-Drake 4:21
30:15
day 9:7 14:1
17:12 22:24
32:18 39:5
40:14
days 17:12 31:20
37:21 40:18
42:19
deacon 26:2
dead 10:11
dealing 13:9
42:12
deaths 12:21
deceased 12:5
decide 46:12
decision 31:5
44:17 50:22
52:25 53:2
decisions 51:2, 4
Decker 6:25 7:1
11:17 12:3, 6
12:15 13:6
14:18 15:3
16:13, 16, 23
17:8, 23 18:7
18:16 19:8, 14
19:24 20:14
21:21 22:8, 11
23:9, 18, 22, 24
24:2
decrease 9:18
decree 21:6
dedicated 25:13
Deeds 49:3
defendant 10:13
defines 50:19
definition 12:10
12:12, 13, 16
delegate 25:24
deliberating
50:21
deliberations
51:1
Denise 5:2
deny 52:24 54:12
department 2:14
10:14 15:23

20:12 26:8
31:3, 18, 23
34:1, 17, 20
47:20 53:3, 4
Deputy 37:3
43:21
desk 48:3
desktop 19:7
31:8
detective 18:9
32:4
detectives 11:3
14:7 19:12
Detroit 1:3, 12
2:14 3:1 8:13
9:1, 17 15:13
21:11 25:4, 24
26:5, 7, 7, 14
31:2, 9, 14
32:16 40:21
Detroiters 33:23
34:2, 11 37:4
developed 8:11
devoted 25:7
different 7:8, 23
8:10 10:4, 8
46:13
diligent 34:18
direction 17:2
directly 47:6
discharged 25:11
disciplinary
24:6, 8, 10
disclosure 51:12
discrepancy
12:11
discretion 53:2
discuss 42:1
51:7
discussion 6:5
6:16 27:1
51:12, 22 52:14
53:19
dispute 14:14
disqualify 52:25
dissatisfied
13:4
district 2:4, 5, 6
2:7, 8, 9, 10
7:22 8:20
25:25 41:25
49:11

disturbed 33:21
documented 29:11
doing 9:10 20:17
28:17, 25 40:9
43:7 49:16
domestic 14:14
14:20
domestic-related
14:21
Donnell 2:3 3:14
door 28:7, 8, 9, 12
28:12, 22 29:5
29:8 42:25
DP 8:16
DPD 12:11
Drive 25:21
27:11, 12
driver 14:19
drug 8:24 42:12
48:17, 19 49:15
drugs 42:14
due 41:7
D.C. 2:16 4:14, 16
23:8, 10 34:4, 7
34:10, 13, 15
36:6, 12, 14, 17
36:20, 22 37:2
37:9 43:18
49:21, 23 50:5

E

E 2:7, 8 3:25 4:3
East 27:11, 12
eastside 26:3
easy 9:22
education 25:3
effect 13:15
efforts 22:4
eight 40:21
eighth 37:17
38:6
either 23:14
32:2
elated 33:12
elevator 42:22
emotion 14:5
employee 31:8
employees 31:19
enacted 9:4
enforcement 31:3
engage 45:18
engaging 45:7

enjoy 40:1
entailed 41:15
enter 18:10
entertain 52:8
 54:13
entire 41:6
entirely 46:13
entities 11:6
equation 12:22
Eric 7:1
especially 7:6
 10:17 15:6
 16:20 17:17
established
 31:10
etcetera 13:4
 49:6, 6, 6
Eugene 24:23, 24
 26:8, 12, 16, 19
 26:25 27:6
evaluation 31:17
everybody 8:6
 9:8 27:24 38:2
evidence 7:9
 32:13
exactly 45:3
example 10:13
excellent 7:13
 13:9 18:22
 32:5
exceptional 10:5
 10:7, 12
excuse 35:3
Executive 2:11
exempt 51:12
exit 20:7
expansion 44:2, 4
 44:24
expected 23:15
 23:20
experience 17:9
 17:9 20:8, 22
 20:23 21:17
experienced
 20:11
expire 44:21
 47:2
Expires 55:20
explain 38:9
exploring 44:2
expressed 16:8
expressing 13:2

extensive 20:12
e-mail 40:15
 41:7
e-mailed 43:6

F

fact 11:10 20:15
 33:21 35:18
 46:12, 20
factors 16:20
failure 53:3
fair 20:13
faith 26:1
families 14:8
family 12:24
 13:10, 16, 24
 18:10, 14 25:1
 41:2 48:19, 23
 49:14
far 7:8 12:21
 14:14
Farwell 25:18, 19
fatal 8:19 9:2
Father 5:16
favor 6:6, 17
 27:2 51:23
 52:15 54:5, 17
FBI 10:3
February 29:15
 48:25, 25 49:1
 49:2
federal 8:12
 48:18 51:13
feel 21:3, 14, 15
 40:16, 17 41:11
feels 40:25
female 41:1, 3
field 21:1
fight 38:13
 39:14
fighter 40:2
file 7:17
final 14:12
finally 31:5
 39:1
find 20:25 42:19
 42:21 49:3
 50:2
finding 14:15
findings 29:10
Firearms 8:15
firemen 33:20, 22

first 13:11
 23:14 28:1
 37:3 49:25
firsthand 41:21
five 11:1 25:8
 38:16 39:11
flashed 28:20
Florida 48:18
 49:4
follow 7:15, 17
 34:4, 15 37:10
 49:23 50:5
followed 9:4
following 18:9
Follows 7:22
follow-up 37:7
 43:22
foot 43:15
force 8:11, 22
 9:3 39:24
 42:13
foreclosure 49:6
foregoing 55:8
form 46:9
forth 7:25 55:10
forums 46:14
forward 5:20
 18:2 21:15
 27:16, 18 52:19
Foster 1:15 5:7
 55:17
found 17:1 39:1
four 33:23 38:15
 42:19
fourth 25:1
frankly 45:20
free 31:12
front 28:8 43:1
frustrated 40:17
full 4:12 55:12
funded 8:12
funding 11:18
Funding-wise
 11:18

G

gambling 32:7, 8
 32:10
gang 14:15 40:21
General 25:12
generate 19:13
geographic 7:22

9:10 11:23
geographically
 7:25
George 2:11 3:12
 44:11 50:17
 52:4
Georgia 24:25
getting 16:9
 17:16 21:11
 34:23 37:5
 41:2
Giaquinto 7:13
gift 26:12
Gina 41:24
girl 38:23, 23
girlfriend 42:21
girls 37:23
 38:13, 21, 21
give 12:12 38:17
 39:25 40:18
 47:13, 20 50:3
Gives 8:1
giving 5:20
 10:23 29:19
 31:19
glad 17:20 33:9
GM 25:13
go 9:20 14:6
 15:20 16:18
 18:8, 17, 19
 19:17, 19 22:13
 28:1 32:23
 37:23 38:1
 46:25 50:14
 51:7, 15 52:1
goal 22:11
goals 22:19 23:3
God 5:19
goes 7:24 9:21
 11:22 15:12
 42:14 43:5
going 3:9 5:11
 6:22 7:3 9:6
 14:4 15:9, 18
 17:2 18:3
 21:10 22:6
 28:2 29:22
 30:16, 17 31:21
 32:11, 22, 22
 33:6 34:19, 25
 38:1, 24 39:10
 39:18 41:6

42:8,24 43:10
45:3 49:5
good 3:5 7:3
17:16 30:22
33:11 40:9
41:8,24 43:20
47:10
grade 38:5,6
great 9:8 15:9
26:1
greater 44:7
Griselda 48:13
grow 41:6,7
guard 9:3
guess 20:8 45:2
guidance 5:17
guns 23:19 38:16
guys 12:1 13:20
21:18 38:25
39:2

H

half 15:10,22
Hammond 39:4
Hamtramck 25:2
hand 43:7
handcuffs 37:22
handle 8:25 12:2
31:9
handles 31:3
handling 12:1
Hanson 5:8
happen 17:25
49:14
happened 42:21
happening 29:17
49:3
happens 10:12
15:20 18:17
19:5
happy 26:11 47:7
harassed 27:21
harassing 49:15
harassment 35:18
hard 16:17 23:11
39:7 43:8,10
Hasse 25:22
hear 14:1 17:20
18:8 46:18
heard 18:19
49:17 50:2
hearing 23:25

24:9,10 31:10
31:25 32:12
45:13
hearings 24:7
Heavenly 5:16
held 27:10
Hello 48:13
help 38:10 39:17
39:18 41:16
48:15 49:19,21
helpful 14:10
helping 7:11,18
Henderson 37:16
40:23
hereinbefore
55:9
hey 13:20 15:9
22:12
Hi 27:19
HIDTA 8:12
high 9:1 14:20
25:3 37:17
38:4 39:8,9
higher 18:2
highway 34:19
history 32:1,7
hm 19:15
hold 9:7 44:16
home 38:24
homicide 6:23
7:1,3,19 8:11
9:7 10:4 12:10
12:14,15,25
13:3,12 14:13
14:13 16:10,18
16:19,25 20:6
20:8,9,12,25
21:7,18 22:13
22:22 23:7
32:4,9 33:15
homicides 9:17
9:23 10:23
12:17,18,19,22
14:15,19,22
15:2,7,8 32:16
33:12
honest 10:18
honorably 25:11
honoring 24:23
26:16,24 27:6
hope 22:8 35:23
40:10

hopefully 41:17
horrible 35:5
house 15:11,19
41:5
huge 22:18
Human 33:8
hundred 11:7
hurry 30:12

I

idea 20:24 31:22
identified 10:9
11:4
ill 42:22
illegal 15:16
49:18
implore 45:22
46:5
important 9:6
13:6 22:21
impressed 45:7
improve 25:15
incarcerated
40:24
incident 42:18
incidents 9:1
16:21 32:5
incredible 17:10
17:15
indicate 52:25
indicated 36:9
individual 11:6
18:12,13 19:6
19:12
individuals
23:18,19
information 7:8
7:10 8:8,9 9:8
9:14 11:22
17:14,15,17
34:5 43:19
innovative 5:19
insensitive 16:7
insensitivity
16:7
instance 19:3
instances 47:11
48:22
Institute 13:9
instituted 7:4
intends 44:1
interact 21:5,20

interacting
21:14
interaction 21:4
21:12,16
interesting
45:14
Internal 29:19
interrogation
21:4
interval 19:11
intervention
36:7
intimidated
27:21
introduction 5:9
investigating
11:21 16:24
investigation
17:1 20:13
investigator
4:22,23,24 5:2
5:2 13:3 22:14
27:24 29:14,18
30:10,14
investigators
4:25 5:4 8:3
9:9 13:23 20:6
20:10,21,21
invitees 50:25
involved 8:6
16:10 45:5,10
45:23
involvement
31:12 45:15
involves 8:23
involving 8:17
8:23
IOS 12:2,3
issue 42:7
issues 41:14
item 37:10

J

jail 31:20
January 44:21
46:25
Jessica 2:2 3:7
Jesus 5:22
job 34:21 47:10
John 27:11
John's 27:10
join 36:15 41:19

joining 41:18
 judge 33:24
 49:12
 July 47:1
 jump 22:18
 Junction 28:4
 June 21:7,8
 justified 12:18
 12:20

K

KC-135 39:25
 keep 40:10 41:8
 kids 34:23,24
 35:9 37:15,18
 37:19,22 38:4
 38:5,5,6 39:6
 39:6,7,8,8,9
 39:12,15,15,17
 39:17,20,22
 40:1,7,14
 41:12
 killed 10:13
 kilogram-level
 8:24
 kind 35:10 46:3
 kinds 38:20
 49:18
 King 43:4
 knew 29:4 33:20
 42:20
 know 7:19 13:11
 13:18 14:1
 16:17 17:8
 19:2,11,18,20
 20:17,19 21:2
 21:2,8,8,12
 22:16 23:16
 27:25 28:6,23
 29:9,18 31:22
 32:18 34:17
 35:20,21,22,24
 35:25 36:1,5,6
 38:7 39:4,10
 39:16 41:11
 43:6,7 45:7,11
 46:1,11
 known 15:18
 knows 18:1 32:7
 32:10
 Koran 25:10
 Kresge 13:9

L

L 2:5 3:19
 lady 30:5
 lapses 19:6
 Law 47:20
 Lawson 5:2
 lead 5:12
 leader 23:11
 leadership 23:12
 23:21
 leading 39:15
 left 7:24 20:11
 37:9
 legal 47:18
 letter 29:21,22
 30:2
 letters 29:12
 letting 35:25
 license 28:22
 29:1 31:3,24
 32:2,14
 licenses 31:9
 32:20
 lieu 46:6
 lieutenant 23:14
 lieutenants 7:17
 life 12:16 25:16
 limit 27:17
 34:22
 limited 46:24
 50:24
 line 16:17 21:13
 Lisa 2:9 4:9
 list 29:11
 listen 32:1,13
 32:13
 lists 29:24
 little 13:12
 31:2 32:19
 40:13 49:1
 lived 25:4
 lives 25:16
 LLC 49:9
 LLP 49:10
 local 20:23 32:9
 locate 10:10
 located 36:16
 locked 37:21
 long 27:25 29:23
 49:7
 longer 18:12

longtime 25:4
 long-standing
 45:11
 look 7:16 10:2
 10:16 11:1
 15:11 19:18
 21:6 22:17,19
 46:12 47:13
 looked 9:22
 16:23 39:13
 looking 16:16
 19:12,15 38:25
 lord 48:17,19
 49:15
 losing 8:9
 lost 37:19
 lot 7:3,7,18,21
 10:8 17:16,16
 29:16 35:7
 36:13 39:4,5
 40:22 41:12
 42:15,16,16
 love 40:23
 loving 25:7
 lower 9:24
 lowest 9:22
 Luke 26:2
 lunch 41:19
 luncheon 13:8
 lurid 42:15
 Luther 43:4

M

M 1:15 55:17
 mad 29:18
 Madam 3:11 4:11
 4:19 5:14 12:9
 18:6,25 19:25
 20:2 21:23
 24:9 26:18
 36:24 43:20
 45:25 46:22
 47:17 48:5
 50:16 51:14
 52:6,10 53:9
 53:20
 mail 29:16
 majority 14:2,3
 making 41:10
 42:13
 male 40:23
 man 26:1 28:13

42:18
 management 7:5
 9:21 49:13
 manager 5:6
 18:17,23
 manner 45:21
 March 6:11
 married 25:6
 Martin 35:8 43:4
 Mary 25:7
 MAS 19:2
 massive 20:7
 material 51:11
 matter 11:5 44:8
 44:17 45:2,11
 47:19 49:25
 Mayor 33:18
 Mayor's 46:10
 ma'am 4:16 5:9
 15:25 27:18
 33:5 34:7
 36:20 48:12
 50:10 53:22
 MCL 50:23 51:9
 mean 6:20 17:10
 22:16,18,24
 39:11 47:22
 medication 41:2
 meet 43:13 51:11
 53:3
 meeting 1:5 3:6
 24:18 27:8,13
 32:23 33:18,19
 44:10 46:2,16
 47:20 49:24
 50:6,20 51:2,5
 54:20
 meetings 46:15
 50:18,19 51:10
 member 11:21
 25:21 49:14
 members 13:25
 40:21 41:20
 memories 14:3
 menu 19:16
 message 15:21
 met 38:24
 method 31:10
 Michigan 1:1,12
 3:1 8:13 25:2
 49:10 55:3
 middle 37:16

38:4 39:7
Midtown 33:16
Mile 25:21
mine 23:4
mini 42:3 43:14
minimum 31:19
minutes 6:11,20
 27:17,25 30:8
 31:6,7 39:21
misdemeanor
 31:20
missing 16:8,11
 38:22
Missionary 26:3
misspoke 46:23
modeling 23:13
mom 40:24 41:1,3
money 8:13 35:4
 49:14,20
monitor 45:4
monitoring 45:9
 45:17
month 48:25
monthly 19:18,22
months 7:4,20
 13:13 17:10
 28:17
Moore 2:10 4:7,8
 6:13 14:25
 23:5 52:11
morning 13:20
mornings 35:22
mothers 13:1
motion 5:24 6:10
 26:15 51:14,16
 52:6,9 53:7
 54:11,13
Motors 25:12
Mound 25:21
move 26:18 53:9
moved 6:1,3,12
 6:14 25:2
 26:20,23 48:16
 51:17,20 52:10
 52:12 53:13,16
 54:15
moving 5:19 42:7
MSP 8:16
multiple 32:9
multistate 8:24
Municipal 44:1
 44:25 47:6

murder 8:21
murdered 10:14
murders 8:17,23
murder/suicide
 10:12
Myatt 5:11,14

N

name 3:7 5:22
 27:16,19 30:8
 30:9,11,22
 41:24 43:21
 48:13
names 29:24
 30:11 38:20
narcotics 8:24
 14:14,19,22
 49:17
national 22:2
nationality
 33:24
nationwide 20:17
nature 12:20
need 28:12 29:5
 29:6 35:10,10
 35:20,21,22
 36:1 39:19
 43:14 49:18
needed 48:4
needs 19:3 42:3
nervous 49:1
never 18:19
 20:23 21:17
 22:13,23 45:20
new 20:21 24:17
 24:17 26:2
newest 4:25
newly 8:11
newspapers 35:24
Nichols 30:10,11
night 39:1 41:9
 43:16
nine 38:17
ninth 38:5
Northeast 8:20
Notary 55:19
notes 7:9,16
 33:13
notice 34:22
not-in-custody
 11:2,10
November 27:22

NSO 42:7
number 8:21 10:1
 10:2,2,17,25
 11:9 12:18
 15:6,11 22:25
numbers 10:16
 16:25 29:24

O

oath 55:9
objection 51:6
obligations 44:5
obtained 11:5
occasions 30:24
offender 10:9,9
 10:10
offenders 15:18
offer 38:9
office 4:14,22
 5:6 11:8 12:11
 13:15 28:4
 46:10
officer 19:4
 27:22 28:5,7
 28:10,11,19
 30:7 31:25
 32:12 37:25
officers 7:7 9:9
 9:11 21:10
 34:2 37:24
 38:15 39:5
official 46:3
oh 13:23 34:16
 36:18 39:22
okay 6:22 14:24
 16:2 17:19
 24:4,15 26:15
 28:16 29:3
 30:17,19,20
 37:9 39:22
 40:11 44:9
 48:11 52:19
 53:5,12,16,23
 54:4
old 24:19 38:23
 38:23 39:2
OMA 50:19,19,23
once 42:2 45:8
ones 11:8
open 11:19 19:20
 28:12 29:5
 46:14 50:19

51:2,10 52:7,9
 52:18
opened 25:20
 40:24
opening 28:11
 29:8
opinion 15:17
 47:21,23 48:2
 48:7,10
opposed 6:8,19
 27:4 51:25
 52:17 54:7,19
ops 15:15
oral 27:14
order 3:6 5:18
 5:24 26:16
 51:15 53:7
Outer 25:21
 27:11,12
outside 28:24
 42:15
out-of-town 13:1
overall 9:18
 15:12 25:15
overreaching
 46:18
overreachings
 46:7
Owens 41:24,25
Oxendine 37:3

P

Page 1:9
paid 48:23
Pamela 4:21
paper 20:7 28:14
paperwork 49:20
parents 38:25
parishioners
 33:18
parked 28:24
Parking 44:1,25
 47:6
part 9:16 15:20
 18:1,21 21:10
 40:12 49:25
 50:1 51:10
particular 12:13
 18:14
parts 42:16
passed 8:5
passes 43:7

passing 8:8
Pastor 5:11, 14
patrol 22:15
 25:22 43:15
payment 49:12
people 7:21 13:9
 13:25 15:9
 20:11 21:1, 3, 4
 21:14 29:18
 35:16 38:16
 39:4 40:22
 42:5, 7, 17
 43:11 49:4, 15
 49:16
percent 9:19
 10:18, 23 11:7
 11:12 15:11
 22:1, 10, 16
 23:3 41:13
percentage 9:18
perform 23:20
person 11:4 12:4
 14:8 23:15
 49:19
personal 21:17
 22:11, 18 23:3
personally 13:16
 20:22
personnel 20:7
persons 16:8, 11
perspective 7:14
 11:2
Pete 21:8 30:23
phenomenal 9:19
 20:18 22:24
phone 14:4 29:24
picked 37:24
picking 21:7
pictures 43:13
piece 28:13
pilot 39:24
place 13:11 14:5
 15:1 45:4 55:9
placed 7:12
plain 28:10
plane 40:2
plans 15:1
plate 28:23 29:1
platoon 23:15
plays 25:16
please 4:18 5:13
 27:16, 17

point 19:5 38:11
 51:14
police 1:3 2:14
 8:13, 14, 25
 10:14 24:22
 26:6, 8, 14
 27:20, 22 28:5
 28:6, 10, 11, 19
 31:3, 12, 13, 16
 31:17, 23 34:1
 34:2, 9, 17, 20
 42:2 43:2, 3, 14
policy 31:17
 50:22
pose 20:13
position 44:3
 47:5
positions 45:18
possible 44:2
posted 36:8
pound 45:6
pray 5:15
prayer 5:12
precinct 12:2, 3
 25:24 27:10
 32:9
precincts 15:15
presence 43:2, 15
present 3:15, 18
 3:21, 24 4:2, 5
 4:8, 10, 16
 50:21
presentation
 6:23 32:5
president 25:17
 25:19, 22 37:13
prevention 36:7
previous 10:19
 22:21, 21 23:1
previously 44:3
 47:5
prior 16:9 17:9
 43:23 45:18, 19
prison 48:18
proactive 15:14
 15:22 32:15
probably 7:20
 9:20 14:22
 22:25 23:14
 30:8 53:21
problem 31:1, 2
 31:23, 24 32:3

 32:12, 19
problems 31:11
proceedings 5:7
 54:21 55:8, 13
process 6:23
 20:9, 18 37:5
 45:10 46:14
 53:1
profile 9:1
program 8:12
 34:24 35:13
 37:16 39:3
 44:2, 25
programs 36:7
progress 7:9
 41:10, 13
progression
 20:20
promised 37:6
property 42:1
proposal 48:15
Prosecutor 12:11
 12:19
Prosecutor's
 11:8 23:2
proud 25:3
provide 37:3
 46:5 47:12
 48:9
province 44:5
provisions 47:4
public 25:20
 33:19 35:21
 50:18, 20, 22, 23
 50:25 51:3, 10
 55:19
publicized 35:17
pull 19:16, 17
purpose 50:21
purposes 50:25
pursuant 51:9
pursuing 37:4
 45:3
put 13:21 34:25
 37:10
putting 15:17
p.m 1:13 3:3, 6
 27:9 52:2, 3
 54:21

Q

quality 25:15

question 11:24
 12:23 14:12, 25
 16:1 17:6 18:7
 18:25 20:3, 9
 20:13 33:25
 34:7 35:14
questions 11:13
 12:8 15:24
 20:1 23:23
quick 7:14 14:25
 28:3
Quinn 5:6
quite 45:20
quorum 50:21
quote 44:23

R

R 2:3, 10 3:14
 4:6
race 34:19
radio 25:22
 35:13
raised 25:8
ran 28:22, 25
 29:2 46:25
rapport 13:3
rate 9:14 10:18
 11:12 15:21
 22:2, 16
reach 14:10
 41:14
reached 20:10, 22
 41:3 53:2
reactive 15:4, 19
read 24:21 41:6
ready 33:4 39:14
 40:18
real 28:2 45:21
realization
 40:22
realize 46:23
realized 23:12
really 15:10, 17
 21:12 39:11
 40:9 43:8
reap 41:8
recall 16:11
received 18:15
 18:15 25:2
 40:25 46:2
recommendation
 46:6 52:20, 24

53:8,10,17
54:12
recommendations
46:4
reconvene 32:24
50:14
record 3:12 9:21
24:21 47:19
50:15,17 51:4
52:2,3,4,21,25
53:22
recording 5:7
Recreation 25:18
25:19
recruitment 37:5
recusals 53:21
reduce 15:1
32:15
reduced 55:10
reduction 15:12
refer 7:4
reference 7:15
12:13,24 20:5
45:2,14
referring 17:3
refuse 37:20
refused 37:23
regard 52:23
regards 24:9,13
34:18
Reginald 2:6
3:22
Register 49:2
REGULAR 1:5
regulations
46:13
rejected 24:11
24:12 51:8
relate 14:13
49:17
relates 23:13
50:1
releasing 5:21
remaining 31:21
removal 15:16
removing 49:19
rendered 47:23
rendering 50:22
rent 48:20 49:12
49:16
reply 35:5
report 6:23

19:13,16 27:20
33:11 35:15
36:8 37:6,8
46:3
reported 55:7
REPORTER 55:1
Reporting 5:8
10:3
reports 24:5,16
35:21
represent 48:1
representation
44:10
representative
43:12 46:1
represented 48:2
request 47:20
resident 25:4
Residents 34:13
resolution 24:20
24:22 26:16,19
26:24 27:6
32:19
resolve 32:3
Resolved 26:5
resources 31:13
33:8
respect 44:24
respond 8:4
12:24
response 15:15
48:10
responsible 8:17
42:13
responsive 46:8
rest 4:18
retired 25:12
revamped 7:20
review 19:10
revisit 45:18
revisited 42:3
revoke 32:2,14
Rhoades 30:22,23
31:1
Rhonda 1:15 5:7
55:17
Ricardo 2:10 4:6
Richard 2:4 3:16
rid 7:21
ride 39:25
right 10:3 14:8
15:5,13 17:14

24:15 27:8
30:17,20 34:6
34:9,12,14
36:3 38:13
40:8 41:23
47:15 48:11
RMOA 49:9
Robert 5:5
role 44:7,7
45:14,17
roll 3:10
Romano 40:11,11
ruled 12:19
rules 10:8 46:12
run 31:13
rushing 33:2
Ryan 25:21

S

Sabree 4:21
52:19,21,22
53:6,8,18
Sabree's 54:12
safeguard 25:15
safety 42:1
Saint 26:2
sale 28:16,18
Saturday 41:17
Savvy 49:8
saw 34:19
saying 13:23
35:3 37:14
47:21 49:4
says 28:9
scene 8:4 21:11
scheduled 51:5,7
school 25:3
34:25 35:1,6
37:17,17 38:4
38:5,12,24
39:7,8,9
schools 35:7,8
Scott 5:2
se 46:19
second 6:2,13
10:17 18:11
23:15 26:21,22
50:1 51:18,19
52:11 53:14,15
54:16
seconded 6:4,15
26:24 51:21

52:13 53:17
seconds 31:22
Secretary 2:11
3:10,11,12,16
3:19,22,25 4:3
4:6,9,11,17,19
5:5 24:6,8,13
44:12 47:8
48:8 50:13,16
50:17 52:4,5
53:20,24 54:2
secure 43:15
security 9:3
see 5:1 7:8,23
9:12 18:13
20:17 22:19
30:15,16 39:3
41:21 43:2
45:3
seen 40:2 49:16
selection 53:1
Selfridge 39:23
39:24
sending 20:15
sends 15:21
senior 20:20
43:9
seniors 36:13
42:8
sensitive 21:9
45:15
sensitivity 13:2
sent 40:15
separate 8:1
separation 9:11
sergeant 5:6
19:4
served 25:9,17
25:22,23 26:2
service 5:8
25:11,13 26:13
session 32:23
33:6 50:14,15
50:24 51:1,3,7
51:9,11,15
52:1,7,9,18
set 23:6,21
31:17 55:10
setting 23:12
Seven 25:21
share 21:16
40:13 45:8

47:7
sharing 9:8, 14
Shelby 2:4 3:17
 3:18 11:15, 24
 12:4 21:23, 25
 54:16
Shelton 5:3
shooting 8:20
 9:2
shootings 8:25
 11:25 12:1
shop 8:20 32:6
 32:10
short 49:7
show 7:2 21:19
 31:10, 18, 25
 32:12
showed 28:13
shows 19:7 22:22
sides 32:13
sign 48:4
signature 23:2
significantly
 9:24
simply 45:22
Singapore 49:10
 49:10
sir 14:23 15:3
 16:5, 15, 22
 17:5 21:22
 23:22 24:1
 30:25 32:21
 40:4
sit 38:8
sitting 19:11
 23:2
situations 42:9
six 7:20, 23 8:1
 8:10, 21 22:25
sixth 38:5
six-month 13:21
skill 23:6 35:2
 35:10
skilled 34:25
skills 21:1, 19
Slappy 24:23, 24
 25:3, 6, 9, 14, 17
 25:23 26:1, 8
 26:12, 17, 19
Slappy's 26:25
 27:6
sleep 43:16

slide 7:2
slides 7:9
small 32:19
smells 42:11
Smith 33:4, 7, 8
 34:6, 9, 12, 14
 34:16 36:4, 10
 36:13, 16, 18, 21
 36:23 37:14
 48:2
snitch 17:21, 22
sold 42:14
solvability 7:12
solved 17:13
solving 15:7
somebody 18:1
 30:6 35:16
 40:6
sorry 6:21 24:12
 33:1 36:12
sorts 13:22
sounds 46:18
 49:25
spark 32:8
speaking 26:6
special 15:15
specific 11:20
 44:5 50:25
specifically
 11:17 44:1
speech 13:8
spent 39:1
spoke 33:18, 21
 45:1
spot 22:13
squad 7:21, 22, 24
 11:16, 21, 23
squads 7:23 8:1
 8:10
SRT 41:17
SS 55:4
St 27:10, 11 55:5
staff 2:15 4:18
 4:20 43:19
 46:1, 5, 20
 47:24
stand 5:1
standards 53:4
standing 24:4
 34:1
stands 6:9, 20, 21
 11:12

start 8:3 9:11
 13:23
started 28:3
starting 35:6
state 1:1 8:14
 27:16 51:12
 55:3
stated 33:22
 35:13
statements 43:25
states 25:10
 51:10
station 42:3
 43:14
statistics 23:16
 23:17
status 41:1
statute 51:13
stay 45:5
staying 42:17
stemming 14:16
stenographically
 55:8
steps 45:6 46:12
Stidham 43:20, 21
 44:19 45:12, 16
 46:22 47:14, 21
 48:1
stolen 42:16
stood 42:22
Stoppers 17:18
story 49:7
strategy 37:4
street 1:11 8:21
 15:16 21:17
 25:23 28:21
 35:1, 11 48:15
 50:4
strong 26:10
structure 5:18
student 40:23
students 41:11
student's 41:1
subject 11:11
 50:18
submitted 11:4
submitting 23:1
substantial
 23:16, 17
substantive
 45:21
suburban 10:14

successful 8:9
successfully
 31:13
suicides 12:21
supervision
 55:11
supervisor 19:4
supervisors 7:6
 7:14
supposed 28:19
 37:20, 25
sure 21:9 22:8
 46:15 48:6, 8
surrounding 32:1
suspects 9:13
suspend 32:2
system 7:5, 12, 15
 9:21 19:2, 14
 31:5, 18, 18

T

table 44:18
tactical 15:15
take 8:7 30:17
 31:11 37:22, 25
 39:19, 23, 24
 44:6 45:4, 17
 46:4, 20 49:13
 49:16, 20 50:13
taken 1:11 12:20
 12:21 33:13
 44:3 47:5
 49:11
talent 20:19
talk 9:9 20:7
 30:6 35:7 38:7
 38:8 40:6
 43:11 50:7
talked 13:18
 20:15 27:24
 30:4, 5 43:12
talking 9:11
 16:6 38:11
tanker 39:25
task 8:11, 22 9:3
tasks 23:20
taxes 48:21
Taylor 2:2 3:5, 8
 4:13, 17 5:10
 5:24 6:3, 8, 14
 6:19 11:14
 12:7 14:24

15:24 16:2
 18:5 20:1,4
 21:24 23:23
 24:1,4,12,15
 26:15,20,23
 27:4 29:14
 30:1,13,16,20
 30:25 32:21
 33:1,5 36:3
 37:1 39:21
 40:4,8 41:23
 43:17 44:9,13
 47:15 48:11
 49:21 50:10
 51:16,18,20
 52:8,12,17
 53:5,7,12,16
 53:23,25 54:4
 54:7,10,17,19
teach 35:9
team 8:1,5,6,15
 9:7,12 22:4
tell 14:7 17:21
 17:22 28:2
 29:21 37:18
telling 30:1
 48:7
ten 8:15,16
tenant's 48:23
tend 40:17
tenure 25:19
terms 13:3 14:15
 16:5 21:1,3,6
 21:14,15,19
testimony 55:9
thank 3:11 4:13
 4:16,19 5:4,10
 5:14,18,18,19
 5:20 14:23
 18:4,7,24
 19:25 22:3
 23:9,22 24:1,2
 26:12 32:17,21
 36:2,23 40:8
 40:11 41:23
 43:3,17 45:24
 47:9,14,15
 48:11 50:9,10
 50:16 53:6
thanked 41:3
thanking 5:17
thefts 42:16

they'd 21:19
thing 9:6 29:23
things 7:3 10:5
 28:25 29:17
 32:15 40:19
 49:16,17
think 13:16 14:6
 14:7 15:4,8,20
 16:6 20:19
 21:21 22:22
 33:15 35:5,6
 35:20,23 38:19
 40:1
thinking 5:19
 37:14
third 1:11 7:25
 19:3 48:23
 49:9
thought 33:5
 50:1
threatened 27:21
 42:23
threatening
 28:22
three 8:18 12:25
 13:13 17:10
 38:21,22
three-month
 13:21
Thursday 1:14
 3:2,6 5:25
 6:11 27:9,12
 33:17 35:13
 51:5
ticket 29:3,4
tickets 31:20
tidbit 45:8
time 3:9 5:11
 6:22 10:11
 11:18 12:13
 18:17 19:8
 20:6 27:23
 28:6 29:2
 32:22 36:2,21
 39:7 41:8 49:4
 55:9
times 10:8 31:13
 38:2 40:16
 41:11
tiny 31:2
tip 17:11
tips 17:6

tireless 25:14
Tobacco 8:14
today 4:15 9:12
 9:15 27:20
 29:20 31:21
 40:20
told 29:8 30:9
 35:15 39:17,20
 39:22 42:23
Tom 43:21 47:11
 47:16
tone 23:12,21
tool 15:9 18:22
top 23:13,21
total 10:17
totally 7:20
touchy 13:11
towing 43:24
track 7:6 9:22
 12:16 17:14
tracking 11:6
 18:22
trafficking 8:24
 8:25 49:17
training 20:5,9
 20:18 21:12
 34:25
transcription
 55:11,13
transfer 12:5
transferred 49:8
transpired 46:16
Trax 7:5 18:8,10
 18:20,22
tremendous 41:10
trigger 19:5
triggers 19:1,9
triple 8:20
true 21:22 55:12
truly 17:11
 41:12
try 14:9 38:8,8
 39:6,18
trying 29:21
 30:12 34:21
 38:10,11 39:16
 39:17 49:15
Tuesday 44:17
 48:4
tumultuous 42:8
turned 39:11
Turner 24:14

51:8 52:23
 53:1
TV 34:19
two 4:25 8:18
 10:4 11:10
 12:25 16:20
 24:6,7 27:17
 27:25 31:6,7
 37:19,22,23
 38:21,24 39:12
 39:21 40:18,20
 41:13 53:21
twofold 20:8
types 42:8

U

UCR 10:3
ultimate 31:4
ultimately 18:13
unable 10:10
uncommon 23:18
understand 14:7
 29:10
understanding
 44:16
unfortunately
 14:18 15:4
Uniform 10:3
unique 21:1,19
unit 11:20 15:4
 15:4,15 16:9
 16:11,11 22:1
United 25:10
units 15:14,14
 15:22
unquote 44:23
unsafe 42:4
unwavering 26:9
update 6:24
 13:18
updating 41:1
urge 37:6
urination 42:11
use 31:6,21

V

vain 40:17
vehicles 46:24
Vice 2:3 47:3
 48:6,10 54:15
victim 7:9 14:10
victims 8:18

9:13 13:7,10
victim's 12:24
 13:16
violated 46:19
violates 44:4
violations 46:7
violence 14:14
 14:20
violent 15:12
vision 31:7,15
visit 45:6
vital 9:13 17:24
volunteers 38:16
vote 53:24
voted 44:20,23
 44:24 47:22
 48:7

W

wage 31:19
wait 33:6
waiting 31:4
walk 38:7
Walking 42:10
wall 38:12
want 13:25 14:6
 14:8 21:9,16
 22:7,9 34:20
 35:16 36:24
 38:1,12 39:3
 40:5 45:9
wanted 30:6
 40:12 41:25
 43:22 48:22
wants 36:15
War 25:10
warrant 10:24
 11:4,5 29:2
warrants 11:2,11
Washington 47:17
 47:18 48:5
wasn't 16:11
 23:17 28:19
 29:8
watch 5:21
water 48:22,24
way 8:22 10:21
 22:2 31:2,5
 38:18 39:13
 43:9
Wayne 28:16,18
weapons 15:16

weary 41:7
website 36:9,10
Wednesday 36:22
 36:23
Wednesdays 36:14
week 23:1 31:15
 33:17 36:5
 37:18
weeks 37:2 38:22
Welborne 37:12
 37:12 39:22
 40:5,9
welcome 5:3
 41:19,22
well-doing 41:7
Wendell 2:5 3:19
went 13:8 22:15
 25:12 28:8,15
 28:18 49:2
White 2:3 3:14
 3:15 6:1 18:5
 18:6,24 19:10
 19:22,25 26:18
 32:25 36:24
 37:2 45:25
 47:10 54:2,9
 54:15
wife 25:7
Willie 2:7,8
 3:25 4:3
window 28:14
wisdom 5:17
wish 26:11
wonderful 33:16
word 5:12
words 28:19
work 7:7 13:7
 22:23 25:12
 31:5 39:6 40:9
 40:16 41:8
worked 17:4
 21:18,25 25:14
 31:19
working 21:17
 28:5 37:15
works 25:16
worry 22:20
worse 34:23,23
write 29:21,22
 30:2
writing 47:25
written 29:15

wrong 39:13
wrote 7:13
W-e-l-b-o-r-n-e
 37:13

Y

yeah 23:2 28:17
 36:10
year 9:18 10:20
 10:22 22:21,22
 23:1 32:6
 33:12 39:13
 44:21,22,22
 47:1
years 22:17 25:5
 25:7,13,18
 26:4 38:23,23
 39:2
year-to-date
 9:25 19:17,19
 22:19,20 23:4
yesterday 11:9
 11:11 29:16
 30:3,4 34:18
 40:16,20

\$

\$500 31:20

1

1 11:9 2:4 49:8
1st 27:23 30:4
 47:1
1:00 41:18,20
10 27:9
10th 27:13
10:00 36:15,22
 41:18
11 25:1
11th 27:9
12 10:21 37:22
 38:23
12th 41:18,21
 49:1,2
12:00 41:20
1200 35:22
1250 50:4
13 10:21 33:14
 37:23 38:23
1301 1:11
14 25:1
15.262 (b) 50:23

15.268 (h) 51:9
17 10:24
18 39:2
180 39:11,12
19 39:2
1934 24:25
1936 28:4
1950s 25:11
1993 48:16

2

2 2:5
2,000 48:24
20 27:22
2001 9:21,23
2006 48:17
2007 48:19
2010 10:20
2011 10:21
2013 10:20 27:22
2014 1:14 3:2,7
 5:25 6:11
 10:19 27:9
 51:6
21-member 8:15
23 25:18
24-hour 36:8
25 10:22
27 6:11

3

3 1:14 2:6 3:2
3rd 3:7 5:25
 25:25 51:6
3-11-2015 55:20
3:00 1:13 3:6
3:01 3:3
30 31:22
31st 47:1
32 25:13
33.8 9:19 15:11
36th 49:11
3612 1:15 55:18

4

4 2:7
4:02 52:2
4:49 52:3
4:52 54:21
40 26:4
42 10:25
45 9:17 10:22

12:22
4777 27:11, 12

5

5 2:8 41:25
50 22:17 25:5
33:23
55 1:9
55.6 10:23
58 25:7

6

6 2:9
6:30 27:9
68 9:17

7

7 2:10
7th 29:15
70 22:16, 20 23:3
75 41:13
750 42:1

8

80 26:9
80s 10:21
80th 24:23 26:17
26:25 27:6

9

9 24:25
9:00 9:7 13:19
90 22:1 31:20
911 29:7
93 22:10
93.3 10:18, 25
97.8 11:12